Claremont Colleges Scholarship @ Claremont

CGU Theses & Dissertations

CGU Student Scholarship

Spring 2022

Investigating How Reading Enhances Empathy: A Longitudinal, Diary Study of Everyday Reading Habits

Caleb H. Mitchell Claremont Graduate University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cgu_etd

Part of the Developmental Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Mitchell, Caleb H.. (2022). *Investigating How Reading Enhances Empathy: A Longitudinal, Diary Study of Everyday Reading Habits*. CGU Theses & Dissertations, 408. https://scholarship.claremont.edu/cgu_etd/ 408.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the CGU Student Scholarship at Scholarship @ Claremont. It has been accepted for inclusion in CGU Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarship @ Claremont. For more information, please contact scholarship@cuc.claremont.edu.

Investigating How Reading Enhances Empathy: A Longitudinal, Diary Study of

Everyday Reading Habits

by

Caleb Mitchell

Claremont Graduate University

Approval Page

This dissertation has been duly read, reviewed, and critiqued by the Committee listed below, which hereby approves the manuscript of Caleb Mitchell as fulfilling the scope and quality requirements for meriting the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology.

> Kendall Bronk, Chair Professor of Psychology Claremont Graduate University

Jeanne Nakamura Associate Professor of Psychology Claremont Graduate University

Saida Heshmati Assistant Professor of Psychology Claremont Graduate University

Keith Oatley Professor Emeritus, Applied Psychology and Human Development University of Toronto

Abstract

Investigating How Reading Enhances Empathy: A Longitudinal, Diary Study of

Everyday Reading Habits

by

Caleb Mitchell

Claremont Graduate University: 2022

Empathy is the social glue that holds people together, and one way to enhance empathy is through reading fiction. Though reading can enhance empathy, there is little understanding of the mechanisms by which it does so. The purpose of this dissertation is to investigate how time spent reading enhances empathy. I posit that two reading experience variables, narrative transportation and reading flow, mediate the relationship between reading and empathy. This is because transportation, feeling absorbed into a story, helps bring characters to life and increases readers' emotional connections, and reading flow, a balance between skill and challenge while reading, can increase enjoyment of reading and promote cognitive engagement with stories. In addition to testing these relationships, the present study aimed to link reading to prosocial outcomes (e.g., donating). I conducted a longitudinal (27-day) diary study using a quasi-experimental design with a group of adult, self-described avid readers and book club members (n = 111) who reported about their reading activities, and a control group (n = 100) who reported about their leisure activities. I used multilevel Bayesian path analysis to test narrative transportation and reading flow as mediators of the relationship between time spent reading and empathy and emotion recognition. I did not find evidence for a relationship between time spent reading and empathy and emotion recognition nor did I find evidence for the hypothesized mediation. Empathy did not change across the study. Emotion recognition did, however, and it was predicted by lifelong

reading, suggesting that lifelong reading can influence changes in emotion recognition, or theory of mind. Reading did not predict donation behavior, failing to link reading to prosocial behavior, but empathic concern, a facet of empathy, did predict donation behavior. Overall, the relationship between reading and empathy is complex. Reading in the long-term is likely to consistently exercise theory of mind abilities and improve them, though the process by which it does so was not detectable across the one month's time spent reading in this study. Though there was no conclusive explanation for the lack of relationship between time spent reading and empathy, one possibility is that reading does not enhance empathy, as defined here, but rather theory of mind abilities. Another possibility is that the effect of reading across one month's time attenuates with age and greater lifelong reading. The results also highlight the challenges in accurately assessing facets of empathy, given the proliferation of empathy measures used in the field. Based on analysis of readers' descriptions of how reading impacted them, the wide array of fiction available to readers can enhance empathy, but present results make clear there are important developmental and measurement issues that should be considered in future studies investigating specifically how reading enhances empathy.

Acknowledgments

I was encouraged and helped by many people on the way to completing this project, and I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to them here. My dissertation committee members—Kendall Bronk, Jeanne Nakamura, Saida Heshmati, and Keith Oatley—were very encouraging and insightful. Thank you for honing my research ideas and fostering my professional development as well. I would also like to thank my friends and family. In particular, I want to thank Matt Huebert, my life partner, who consistently encouraged me to work hard and not give up, even when my motivation faltered. Rebecca Heilman, who helped me with recruiting participants, critiquing my research design, and extensively commenting on my writing. Thiraput Pitichat, who took every major step in graduate school along side me and helped me design and build this study using tools I would not have known were available without his insight. Finally, many other friends and family provided much encouragement, insight, and support along the way and kept me going. I would not be where I am today without the many loved ones who are part of my life.

Table of Contents	
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	1
Defining Empathy	4
The Nature of Reading	10
Differential Susceptibility to Media Effects as a Framing Device	17
Development of Empathy and Reading	19
Media Response Variables	26
Current Study	
Chapter 2: Method	32
Participants	32
Measures	34
Procedure	41
Analysis Plan	43
Chapter 3: Results	46
Preliminary Analyses	46
Primary Analyses	51
Supplemental Analyses	61
Chapter 4: Discussion	64
Summary of Findings	64
Inconclusive Evidence Regarding How Reading Enhances Empathy	65
Reading and Theory of Mind	66
Different Measures of Facets of Empathy	68
Developmental Effects on Reading and Empathy	70
Participants' Perspectives on Their Changing Empathy	72
Reading, Empathy, and Donating	73
Complex Relations Between Facets of Empathy	74
Impacts of COVID on Participants' Behavior	76
Limitations	77
Future Directions	80
Conclusion	
References	84
Appendices	117

List of Tables

Table 1: Zero-order Correlations, Means, and Standard Deviations for Diary-level Variables47
Table 2: Zero-order Correlations, Means, and Standard Deviations for Person-level Variables(Reading Group Only)
Table 3: Comparison of Demographic and Background Characteristics Between Groups 48
Table 4: Mediational Testing of Transportation and Reading Flow as Mediators Between TimeSpent Reading and Empathy and Emotion Recognition54
Table 5: Moderation Effect Between Time Spent Reading and Lifelong Reading on Empathy andEmotion Recognition
Table 6: Effect of Time Spent Reading on Different Components of Empathy
Table 7: Means (SD) for Empathy and Emotion Recognition Scores for Each Group 56
Table 8: Components of Empathy Predicting Emotion Recognition 61
Table 9: Zero-order Correlations Between Empathic Concern and Facets of Empathy

List of Figures

Figure 1: 6	Conceptual	Mediation Model		;
-------------	------------	-----------------	--	---

Chapter 1

Introduction

The only effect I ardently long to produce by my writings, is that those who read them should be better able to imagine and feel the pains and joys of those who differ from them in everything but the broad fact of being struggling, erring human beings.

- George Eliot (as cited in Allott, 1961)

Empathy is lauded as a crucial skill for navigating daily life (Hoffman, 2000; Zaki, 2018). It refers to the capacity for "feeling and understanding the emotions of others" (Segal et al., 2017, p. 2). At the same time, it positively influences many beneficial social outcomes. For instance, when people take time to consider others' thoughts and feelings, they often act more morally (Batson et al., 2015) and prosocially (Davis, 2015; FeldmanHall et al., 2015), and empathy is considered an indelible part of the social glue that holds people together (de Waal, 2009). The presence of empathy contributes to positive outcomes in varied domains, including reduced suspension rates following disciplinary action in schools (Okonofua et al., 2016) and improved patient recovery in medicine (Decety & Fotopoulou, 2015). Inversely, the absence of empathy contributes to worsened outcomes in other domains, including polarized politics (Morris, 2020) and developmental, behavioral issues (Moul et al., 2018). There has been much interest in understanding ways to promote empathy development given its potential for promoting positive social outcomes.

Efforts to cultivate empathy have largely been successful (Lam et al., 2011; Teding van Berkhout & Malouff, 2016). Empathy, broadly construed, is malleable and teachable across wide age ranges (Bluck et al., 2013; Farrant et al., 2012; Goldstein & Winner, 2012) and in different contexts (Batt-Rawden et al., 2013; McAllister & Irvine, 2002). This work on cultivating empathy has made clear that empathy development continues past the first few years of life (e.g.,

Allemand et al., 2015), and that people do not need to explicitly share experiences to empathize with others (Hoffman, 2008). Rather, one particularly promising approach to cultivating empathy is reading about others through fiction (Mar, 2018).

Authors and readers alike have long believed that reading fiction can instill in readers a newfound understanding of others. In short, fiction reading is commonly identified as one way to enhance empathy (Hakemulder, 2000; Keen, 2007; Vitz, 1990). Plato and Aristotle each wrote about the capacity for fictional stories to simulate diverse social experiences helping readers to better imagine and feel the pain and joy of others (Mar, 2018; Oatley, 2016). Readers experience empathy when they cry at a favorite character's death or come to see another's culture from a new perspective (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017; Wolk, 2009). Of course, not all stories evoke such changes (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013), but many have the potential to exercise empathic abilities (Barnes, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008). There is increasing interest in understanding the relationship between reading and empathy because of the growing recognition that reading is a widespread, rich behavior among all culture that provides useful insights into the mind and brain (Jacobs & Willems, 2018; Willems & Jacobs, 2016). Reading enables people to recognize others' common humanity (Wolk, 2009), and, when it engages readers' empathy, it empowers readers to be better people by fostering greater connections to and concerns for others (Coyne et al., 2018).

Notably, I refer to reading fiction specifically because it differs from reading non-fiction in several important ways (Mar et al., 2006, 2009; Tamir et al., 2016). Non-fiction reading materials (e.g., chemistry textbooks) often stimulate propositional thinking (e.g., facts like 2 + 2 = 4), whereas fiction reading materials often stimulate narrative thinking (e.g., temporally connected sequence of events); in doing so, fiction reading tends to focus on social interactions

(Bruner, 1991; Oatley, 2016). Because fiction reading materials activate socio-emotional mental processes that non-fiction reading materials do not, fiction reading is more likely to enhance empathy. In light of this, *reading* in this paper refers to reading fiction.

Though there is consensus that reading can enhance empathy (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017), there is little evidence suggesting *how* reading enhances empathy. A lack of understanding of the mechanisms underlying how reading enhances empathy has impeded efforts to effectively use reading to enhance empathy. The way(s) reading enhances empathy is likely indirect (Valkenburg et al., 2016), suggesting there are mediating mechanisms that must be considered. Understanding the mediating mechanisms underlying the relationship between reading and empathy is important for two reasons. First, we need to better understand how, and to what extent, reading enhances empathy. Second, reading is a low-cost, readily available activity that many people engage in regularly (Willems & Jacobs, 2016). If the mechanisms through which reading contributes to empathy are better understood, empathy may be more effectively and intentionally developed.

This study seeks to examine how reading enhances empathy by investigating mediating mechanisms in this relationship. In addition, it seeks to determine the extent to which the expected growth in empathy is positively associated with real-world positive outcomes, such as donating to charity. In the following sections, I review leading definitions and conceptualizations of empathy and then describe the nature of reading. Following this, I outline research that establishes that reading does in fact enhance empathy. Next, I review theories that posit *how* reading may enhance empathy. I organize these theories within a media effects theoretical framework. Using this framing, I review extant literature that identifies the factors that are particularly influential in the relationship between reading and empathy, including age and

developmental changes associated with empathy. I also discuss the positive outcomes associated with empathy and reading and how they change with age. In addition to age, I consider experiential media responses associated with reading, such as transportation and reading flow, that enhance media effects. Finally, I propose a set of hypotheses and research questions that will guide this study and explain the proposed study methods.

Defining Empathy

A theoretically sound, empirically grounded definition of empathy is needed for investigating how reading enhances empathy. A concise definition of empathy has long eluded scholars (Wispé, 1986), and the current state of competing definitions and conceptualizations of empathy (Batson, 2009; de Vignemont & Singer, 2006) has largely been associated with obfuscation rather than nuanced insight (Burke et al., 2016; Decety & Cowell, 2014). A recent review of empathy found 43 definitions in the literature (Cuff et al., 2016), which often point to divergent conclusions. The proliferation of empathy definitions has resulted in many terms commonly used to describe different aspects of empathy, including experience sharing, mentalizing, social cognition, emotional or affective empathy, cognitive empathy, and theory of mind (Burke et al., 2016; Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Keysar et al., 2003; Shamay-Tsoory & Aharon-Peretz, 2007; Walter, 2012; Zaki & Ochsner, 2016). For example, one narrow definition—empathy as feeling what others feel—is not predictive of prosocial action and may even be negatively associated with it (Jordan et al., 2016), but another—empathy as mentalizing (i.e., perspective taking), experience sharing (i.e., self-other overlap), and demonstrating prosocial concern—is, clearly, predictive of prosocial action (Zaki & Ochsner, 2016).

Despite varied definitions, two common threads have emerged from the literature (Cuff et al., 2016). There is growing consensus that empathy is comprised of a complex interplay of

affective and cognitive processes (Coplan, 2011; Walter, 2012; Zaki & Ochsner, 2016). In this study, I use *empathy* to refer to an affective and cognitive response that involves a unique combination of feeling, sharing, and understanding emotions and thoughts of others that is automatically elicited but is also shaped by cognitive processes, with recognition that the source of the response is outside the self (Cuff et al., 2016). In this study, I rely on a recently proposed conceptualization of empathy (Segal et al., 2017) for its clarity and comprehensiveness. This definition encapsulates the notion of "feeling and understanding the emotions of others," but goes beyond that in making explicit that empathy can be modulated by correctly (or incorrectly) recognizing other's emotions, cognitive control over one's own emotions, and one's relationship (or lack thereof) with others (de Vignemont & Singer, 2006; Ochsner et al., 2009; Zaki, 2014). This definition is preferred over previous definitions because it incorporates behavioral and social psychology findings and draws on recent social neuroscience findings (Decety & Jackson, 2004; Segal et al., 2017; Walter, 2012). A benefit of this grounded definition of empathy is it provides a springboard for thinking about how to measure empathy.

Conceptualizing Empathy

This study will conceptualize empathy as dependent on five interrelated components: (a) *affective responding*, affective change in response to others' emotions or behaviors; (b) *affective mentalizing*, cognitively comprehending the emotional state of others; (c) *self-other awareness*, maintaining an awareness of whether one's affective response is related to the self or to others' emotions; (d) *perspective taking*, adopting the thoughts and feelings of others; and (e) *emotion regulation*, managing the intensity, duration, and valence of one's emotional response to others (Segal et al., 2017). Each component contributes to empathy as a distinct psychological phenomenon (Decety & Cowell, 2014; Walter, 2012). Each must be considered to understand the

whole, as "empathy cannot be understood by fully deconstructing it into constituent parts" (Zaki & Ochsner, 2012, p. 677). Rather, distinguishing these components is meant to provide a heuristic for understanding the phenomena that, taken together, comprise empathy (de Vignemont & Singer, 2006; Gerdes et al., 2011).

The first component of empathy, affective responding, refers to emotional reactions to external stimuli—feeling pain when seeing someone hit their thumb with a hammer or fear when reading about characters in danger (Decety & Jackson, 2006; Segal et al., 2017; Walter, 2012). Affective responding recruits the mirror neuron system (Decety & Jackson, 2004; Gallese, 2001; Zaki et al., 2009), which enhances the emotional synchrony between people. Affective responses are activated automatically, as they are attentional mechanisms meant to help people quickly attune to important events in their surroundings (Öhman et al., 2001). Affective responses contribute to empathy through creating an initial, simple emotional connection (or disconnection; Zaki, 2014) between people.

The second component, affective mentalizing, refers to comprehending the emotional states of others and acts as a bridge between affective and cognitive dimensions of empathy (Segal et al., 2017; Shamay-Tsoory & Aharon-Peretz, 2007). It involves discerning if someone is happy, sad, angry, or scared. People can be surprisingly adept at this, even when limited to relatively subtle written descriptions, as is the case with reading (Duval et al., 2011; Schnell et al., 2011). The ability to infer emotions from subtle written cues is shaped by both automatic, affective responding (e.g., activation of amygdala) and controlled, cognitive responding (e.g., executive control, prefrontal brain activity; de Vignemont & Singer, 2006; Decety, 2011). In addition, emotional responses to events that are filtered through a top-down perspective (e.g., considering contextual factors, intentions) are distinct from bottom-up responses (e.g., visceral

response to pain; Ochsner et al., 2009; Walter, 2012), though both influence empathy (Decety & Jackson, 2004, 2006). Affective mentalizing contributes to empathy by enabling people to accurately evaluate the affective states of others and to align their own affective states with others'.

The third component, self-other awareness, refers to distinguishing between affective responses that are other-induced and those that are self-induced (Decety & Jackson, 2004). Understanding oneself facilitates the ability to understand others—grasping what it feels like to be happy, sad, or angry is critical to inferring when others are happy, sad, or angry. An awareness of whether feelings are related to one's personal experiences or others' experiences alters the way individuals react to those feelings (Lamm et al., 2007). For instance, lacking selfother awareness can lead to personal distress. This occurs when individuals feel overwhelmed by someone else's distress (Decety & Jackson, 2006). When this happens, individuals may seek to alleviate their own suffering rather than help others. There are distinct neurological pathways for processing self- and other-related emotions and behaviors, though there are also overlapping areas of activation, related to the mirror neuron system (Walter, 2012; Zaki et al., 2009). This suggests self-regulatory processes are needed to prevent confusion between one's own and others' feelings (Decety & Jackson, 2004, 2006; Zaki & Ochsner, 2012). Self-other awareness contributes to empathy by helping people accurately monitor the source (i.e., self- or otherinduced) of thoughts and feelings.

The fourth component, perspective taking, also called cognitive empathy, refers to the ability to consider a situation or emotion from another's point of view—walking a mile in another's shoes (Cuff et al., 2016; Van der Graaff et al., 2014). It requires dedicated attentional effort and does not occur spontaneously, or even readily (de Vignemont & Singer, 2006; Keysar

et al., 2003; Royzman et al., 2003). Perspective taking helps individuals make meaning of others' reactions, but it requires more than simply placing oneself in someone else's shoes. It also requires consideration of other peoples' thoughts, feelings, and emotions, which is a cognitively complex task. People often filter others' perspectives through their own schemas (Frith & Frith, 2006), and placing oneself in another's position without also considering their thoughts and feelings is not perspective taking but a form of egocentrism (Galinsky & Moskowitz, 2000; Royzman et al., 2003). Perspective taking contributes to empathy by helping individuals to accurately interpret other peoples' feelings and to understand the beliefs, experiences, and contextual factors that give rise to their perspectives and feelings.

Finally, the last component, emotion regulation, refers to the ability to respond in controlled ways to others' emotions and to not be overwhelmed by them (Decety & Jackson, 2004). This is a critical component of empathy because individuals experiencing empathy must be able to manage and optimize their emotion levels to react appropriately. A lack of emotion regulation can lead to personal distress or emotional contagion (i.e., automatically mimicking or "catching" the emotions of others; Hatfield et al., 2009; Walter, 2012). Emotion regulation influences empathy through top-down, cognitive processes that improve in accuracy and efficiency with age (de Vignemont & Singer, 2006; Ochsner et al., 2009; Tousignant et al., 2017). Optimal levels of arousal can motivate one to focus on others (Hoffman, 2008; Lockwood et al., 2014), but too much emotional arousal can inhibit empathy. For example, people may seek to down-regulate arousal (leading to under-arousal) to avoid being overwhelmed by news of a natural disaster (Cameron & Payne, 2011). Emotion regulation contributes to empathy by helping people avoid being swept up in their own affective responses and providing the optimal level of stimulation to motivate empathic responding.

This study will rely on this conceptualization (Segal et al., 2017) because it clarifies what constitutes empathy and what does not. This is needed as, to date, much research on reading and empathy has considered only either affective or cognitive dimensions of empathy, and this has led to inconsistent conclusions about the effects of reading on empathy (Burke et al., 2016; Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018). It is now clear that empathy is more than one or the other of these two dimensions, and what is needed is research that considers the complete empathy construct. In sum, this model provides a common lexicon for describing the complex, interconnected processes that comprise empathy, and it aligns well with other recent work that clarifies what empathy is (Coll et al., 2017; Coplan, 2011; Cuff et al., 2016).

Measuring Empathy

With a clear idea of what constitutes empathy, it makes sense to explore approaches to measuring the construct. The Empathy Assessment Index (EAI) is a self-report measure designed to assess each of the five components of empathy (Segal et al., 2017). There are no studies assessing how sensitive the EAI is to change, but the measure is conceptualized as being malleable and sensitive to change. Moreover, the measure is useful in the present study for both its breadth and clarity in assessing the whole empathy construct. Still, there are limitations to the Empathy Assessment Index that are common to all self-report measures of empathy. Specifically, most people overestimate their abilities to adopt others' perspectives and accurately recognize others' emotions (Israelashvili et al., 2019; Melchers et al., 2015), which suggests self-report measures may be inadequate for measuring all components of empathy, particularly the cognitive dimensions of the construct (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019). However, this limitation can be overcome by collecting data from other types of empathy measures.

Objective measures of emotion recognition represent one way to overcome limitations of self-report empathy measures. Objective measures of empathy are useful for assessing the construct, above and beyond self-report measures, because they provide unique predictive power in accounting for individuals' empathic abilities. A recent meta-analysis found that self-report measures only accounted for 1% of the variance in objective measures of cognitive components of empathy (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019). This does not indicate self-report measures are not useful, but, rather, points to the need for different types of measures of empathy to account for the whole construct. Considering this, the proposed study will include an objective measure of emotion recognition (i.e., affective mentalizing). Research into objective measures of emotion recognition has been spurred by recognition that they 2 provide valid assessments of cognitively complex empathy abilities (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019; Teding van Berkhout & Malouff, 2016). Emotion recognition measures usually require individuals to correctly identify others' emotional states either from pictures (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001) or video clips (Schlegel et al., 2014). These tests are designed to mimic real-world social interactions. Multimodal tests that integrate both visual and auditory stimuli are considered the most ecologically valid and accurate assessments of emotion recognition abilities (Hall, 1978; Schlegel et al., 2014). Moreover, as a direct test of individuals' emotion recognition abilities, they do not rely on individuals' perceptions of their own abilities (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019). Considering this, it is clear an objective measure of emotion recognition, in addition to self-report, is needed to accurately measure empathy.

The Nature of Reading

There is consensus regarding what constitutes reading. Reading "is a complex cognitive process of decoding symbols for the intention of deriving meaning from print" (Neuman et al., 2014, p. 816). This definition is seemingly straightforward, but theories of reading

comprehension elucidate the cognitive complexity inherent in reading—reading comprehension requires integration of semantic decoding (Perfetti & Stafura, 2014), tracking of characters' mental states (Dore et al., 2018; Paris & Paris, 2003) and narrative arcs (Wassenburg et al., 2015), and recognition of emotional cues in texts (Altmann et al., 2012; Vega et al., 1996). When readers lack these comprehension skills, words remain simply words on the page; however, when readers have developed these skills, stories can leap off the page into readers' minds. Theories of reading comprehension make clear that many of the skills associated with empathy are also exercised by reading. For instance, fiction often focuses on human(-like) characters that evoke affective responses (Altmann et al., 2012). Readers' recognition that characters are relatable and their actions are understandable can spur interest in perspective taking (Kotovych et al., 2011). When readers emotionally connect to and adopt the perspectives of characters, they also begin to exercise affective mentalizing by attempting to gain a deeper understanding of characters. This process of coming to know story-world characters is similar to coming to know real-world others (Djikic et al., 2013). The parallels between these two processes makes clear reading can provide insight into understanding empathy (Burke et al., 2016; Willems & Jacobs, 2016).

Reading Enhances Empathy

Reading does not *always* enhance empathy, but there is consensus that it *can*, at least under certain circumstances (Burke et al., 2016). To understand the mechanisms through which reading enhances empathy, it is important to first identify the factors known to be relevant regarding how reading enhances empathy.

One factor has to do with the story content. Research suggests stories must prominently feature social interactions, which fiction often does (Oatley, 2016), to enhance empathy (Mar, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008). One study found that manipulating the clarity of characters'

emotions and thoughts (e.g., "angry," "mildly annoyed") influenced empathy (Kotovych et al., 2011). Another study found that identifying closely with stigmatized story characters reduced prejudice toward real-world stigmatized groups (Vezzali et al., 2015). Yet another study found reading stories featuring social content recruited neural pathways involved in theory of mind, whereas reading about non-social topics (e.g., geometry) did not (Tamir et al., 2016). Specifically, stories needed to feature interpersonal interactions between characters to involve theory of mind pathways. Abstract social content (e.g., encyclopedic description of a group's culture) did not involve theory of mind pathways. Others have replicated the need for a focus on characters' interpersonal interactions to influence empathy (Black & Barnes, 2015).

Two other factors related to story content concern literariness, referring to the degree that stories feature complex characters who promote reflection (Kidd & Castano, 2013; Koopman, 2016), and narrativity, referring to stories being presented as a connected sequence of events (Black & Barnes, 2015). Literariness is often assessed by including stories selected from prestigious anthologies (Kidd & Castano, 2013). Many stories considered "classics" (e.g., George Orwell's *1984*) are thought to be high in literariness. Even reading short passages from literary stories can enhance empathy (Kidd et al., 2016; Kidd & Castano, 2013, 2017; Pino & Mazza, 2016), albeit with small effects (Djikic et al., 2013; Koopman, 2015, 2016). Regarding narrativity, reading disjointed sentences from a story reduces the global coherence of a story and fails to activate the brain regions responsible for immersion and simulation that reading whole passages does (Kurby & Zacks, 2013). This is because readers need a baseline level of narrativity connecting between events to make inferences when reading (Graesser et al., 2015).

Another factor relevant to the ways reading enhances empathy has to do with the nature of the reader. Research finds that frequent—as compared to occasional—readers report greater

empathy because of reading, and they recognize emotions more accurately, even when controlling for verbal ability and personality characteristics (De Mulder et al., 2017; Mar et al., 2006, 2009). Understanding that reading is most likely to enhance empathy among frequent readers suggests changes in empathy may be slow to build (Djikic et al., 2013). This makes sense as readers' ability to immerse themselves in stories requires practice to become adept at building mental simulations and making inferences from subtle cues in stories (Jacobs & Willems, 2018; Mar 2018).

Overall, growing evidence regarding the circumstances under which reading enhances empathy points to two conclusions. Reading, indeed, enhances empathy (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018), but changes in empathy related to reading are slow to build (Mumper & Gerrig, 2017). Thus, my proposed study is intended as a response to calls to move the field forward, by rigorously investigating how reading enhances empathy.

How Reading Enhances Empathy

What are the mechanisms through which reading enhances empathy, when it does? Several complementary theories provide some insight here. These theories highlight the features of stories and characteristics of readers that must be considered when investigating the mechanisms through which reading enhances empathy.

One prominent theory suggests reading enhances empathy because engagement with stories is like running a mental simulation of social experiences (Mar, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008; Oatley, 2016; Oatley & Djikic, 2018). Thinking of stories as simulations suggests that stories can provide social models of behavior and attitudes. The modeling approach draws on social learning theory, which proposes that people can learn how to act and think by watching others receive rewards and punishments (Bandura, 2009; Moyer-Gusé, 2008). Aside from

modeling, readers' mental simulation of stories requires them to consider others' perspectives and emotions, and more engaging and effortful simulations enable greater connection to characters (Mar & Oatley, 2008). This suggests greater engagement in mental simulations can improve one's ability to accurately consider others' perspectives and emotions. Further, a fundamental component of stories as mental simulations is narrative thinking, referring to the way people understand others' actions as being influenced by past, present, and future emotions and feelings (Bruner, 1991). This is supported by evidence that the brain's systems for story simulations are the same ones used when thinking about real-world social interactions (Mar, 2011). Fictional stories that focus on human(-like) characters facilitate top-down affective responding when readers "witness" events happening to characters (Tamir et al., 2016). Readers then use their perspective taking abilities to make sense of characters' choices and actions (Oatley, 2016). Insights gained from descriptions of characters' thoughts, which are not normally accessible in real-world interactions, can exercise and improve readers affective mentalizing abilities (Oatley & Djikic, 2018).

Another aspect of the theory focuses on stories as abstractions of social experiences, which makes stories a particularly useful, tailored tool for enhancing empathy (Mar & Oatley, 2008). The notion of abstraction refers to how stories generally only include details necessary to understand plot and characters (e.g., stormy night as a portent) but exclude other, less relevant details (e.g., restroom breaks). By removing extraneous details, stories can provide readers insight into specific dilemmas or situations (e.g., *Diary of Anne Frank, Uncle Tom's Cabin*). Stories may focus on teaching moral themes (e.g., Lee et al., 2014) or expressing positive messages about underrepresented groups (e.g., Aronson et al., 2018; Johnson, 2013). The abstraction in stories makes lessons like these generalizable for readers. That is, one need not

have experienced enslavement to understand how detrimental slavery can be. Indeed, though simpler than real-world social interactions, story events can change schemas drawn upon for understanding and responding to real-world social experiences (Moyer-Gusé, 2008). In sum, the simulation and abstraction of social interaction inherent in reading can enhance empathy by exercising empathic skills used in real-world social situations (Mar & Oatley, 2008).

The theory of *imaginative engagement*, referring to the degree to which readers contribute creatively and imaginatively to stories, suggests imaginative engagement influences how deeply reading exercises empathic abilities (Barnes, 2018). This is because imaginative engagement motivates readers to move beyond passive consumption and toward actively contributing their own voice and interpretation to reading, though such engagement is not possible without well-developed reading comprehension abilities (e.g., Perfetti & Stafura, 2014). Imaginatively engaged readers deeply process plot and characters' actions, fill in gaps in meaning, and connect implicit threads linking characters' actions. In this way, imaginative engagement promotes greater perspective taking, affective mentalizing, and top-down affective responses. Again, an advanced level of cognitive development is required for readers to connect underlying threads embedded in stories. The impetus for imaginative engagement does not rely solely on the reader though. Characteristics of stories can also increase imaginative engagement, for example, featuring characters who are developed in relatable ways and with whom readers can build parasocial relationships (Barnes, 2018; Moyer-Gusé, 2008). Imaginative engagement reflects the way individuals come to understand others in real-world social experiences-through often opaque lenses that inherently leave some gaps in understanding. Imaginative engagement can enhance empathy by spurring readers to exert effort in understanding others, both in reality and in stories.

Lastly, theoretical reasoning points to readers as active agents in meaning making while reading (Narvaez, 2001, 2002), and this framing of the readers' perspective affects the understanding of how reading enhances empathy. Schemas-cultural, age-related, genderrelated, and others-influence the comprehension of texts (Narvaez, 1998). Active meaning making with stories can reinforce existing schemas through assimilation, but it can also spur accommodation of new ideas and ways of thinking about and understanding others. For example, Harriet Beecher Stowe's Uncle Tom's Cabin, written in 1852, could be understood as a censure of the treatment of enslaved people at that time. Reading it in the 21st century, however, the story is useful both as a window into the past and as a timeless account of how not to treat other people. Readers do not automatically glean themes like these, as accommodating new ways to think about others requires effort (e.g., Cameron et al., 2019), but they can draw on their own experiences in connecting the plight of characters on the page to people in reality. Moreover, some stories may subtly present themes (stories as abstraction; Mar & Oatley, 2008) that some readers simply gloss over, but that other readers find compelling and moving. Readers as meaning makers (Narvaez, 2001, 2002) highlights ways readers partake in top-down affective responding, perspective taking, and affective mentalizing. They do not simply adopt the perspectives and emotions of characters or authors when they do so-readers bring their own schemas to the text, as in real-world social situations, and they comprehend stories with their own personal lens applied (e.g., Frith & Frith, 2006).

These theories highlight phenomena and features of stories relevant to understanding how reading enhances empathy, but they are limited in that they do not pose directly testable propositions. Taken together, these theories suggest reading enhances empathy through cognitively complex routes, above and beyond the complexity inherent in reading

comprehension. Based on these theories and the conceptualization of empathy in this study (Segal et al., 2017), reading most likely enhances the affective responding, mentalizing, and perspective taking components of empathy more than emotion regulation and self-other awareness. Past research supports this distinction (Black & Barnes, 2015; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017), referring to the effect reading has on social cognition (e.g., Mar, 2011, 2018). Though reading may affect these social-cognitive components more than others, evidence is growing that these components are interrelated and inextricable (Segal et al. 2017; Zaki & Ochsner, 2012), which supports reading enhancing empathy, broadly, still. These insights are informative, but there is a need for more rigorous investigations of how reading enhances empathy (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018) grounded in a coherent framework for organizing insights from these theories. The media effects orientation of the Differential Susceptibility to Media Effects Theory (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013) suits this need.

Differential Susceptibility to Media Effects as a Framing Device

In addition to reading effects theories (Barnes, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008; Narvaez, 2001, 2002), the media effects perspective offers useful insights into ways that reading may enhance empathy (Valkenburg et al., 2016). Specifically, the Differential Susceptibility to Media Effects Theory (DSMT) Model proposes that reading is one type of media among many (e.g., television, radio), and that the process by which reading influences empathy can best be understood by considering the bidirectional relations between readers and stories (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). The DSMT Model specifies what media effects to expect reading to evoke. As well, it specifies testable propositions that will guide this proposed study.

The DSMT Model situates reading squarely in the broader media effects field, and, in doing so, provides unique insight into how reading enhances empathy. Reading produces *media*

effects, short- and long-term within-person cognitive, emotional, and behavioral changes that result from media use (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). Reading can affect readers in specific ways, on cognitive (e.g., observing character development), emotional (e.g., happiness when characters succeed), and physiological (e.g., fear for characters in peril) levels (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). The DSMT Model also provides insights into how reading enhances empathy by highlighting fundamental assumptions underlying media effects: media use is selective, and its effects can be direct or indirect (Valkenburg et al., 2016). The first assumption that media use is selective purports that individuals have limited attention and can only attune to select media messages; thus, only messages readers attune to can influence them. People can scan the words on a page without deriving meaning from the print, in which case they are not truly reading (Neuman et al., 2014) because attention is required to derive meaning (Valkenburg et al., 2016). The second assumption that media effects are indirect implies that reading by itself does not produce changes. Readers must engage with stories in ways that evoke different cognitions, emotions, and behavioral changes for reading to enhance empathy. This suggests there is a need to look beyond time spent reading to specific cognitive, behavioral, and physiological mediating variables to expand our understanding of how reading enhances empathy. Lastly, the third assumption of the DSMT Model suggests the direct influence of media effects (e.g., fear, amusement) are short lived but predictive of long-lasting changes (e.g., attitudinal, behavioral; Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). Because the direct effects are short lived but impactful, studies using short sampling timeframes that enhance ecological validity represent promising designs for fully understanding the impacts of media effects.

Two propositions of the DSMT Model inform my understanding of reading specific theories and my study design. Proposition 1 of the DSMT Model suggests there are three primary

differential susceptibility variables—developmental, dispositional, and social—that influence media effects (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). Of these, developmental effects are of most interest here. The focus on developmental effects highlights how reading as an empathy-enhancing activity cannot be understood without considering age-related changes in empathy and reading. Personal characteristics (i.e., individual differences), like lifelong reading (Mar et al., 2009), are also influential in this relationship and will be assessed in this study. Social variables span the ecological context—from the micro-level (e.g., movie theater, at home) to the macro-level (e.g., historical time, culture). Social variables will not be central to the present investigation. As well, Proposition 2 of the DSMT Model suggests media responses (i.e., sources of cognitive, emotional, physiological changes) are also integral to understanding how reading enhances empathy (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). Media responses vary, from connecting with characters to attitude change (Moyer-Gusé, 2008). However, experiences like narrative transportation and reading flow stand out as particularly influential media response variables (Green et al., 2004; McQuillan & Conde, 1996; Oatley, 2016).

With these two DSMT Model propositions in mind, a review of the developmental literature is useful for homing in on periods of the lifespan when reading is most likely to enhance empathy. As well, a review of media effects literature suggests transportation and reading flow may be media response states that closely align with theoretical expectations regarding how reading enhances empathy (Barnes, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008; Narvaez, 2001, 2002).

Development of Empathy and Reading

The present study will examine the way reading enhances empathy among a sample of adults. The decision to include adults, rather than children and adolescents, is an intentional one.

Components of empathy exhibit different rates of change with age, given their dependence on different affective and cognitive abilities (Hoffman, 2008; Zaki & Ochsner, 2016). As well, foundational reading comprehension skills develop across childhood (Sénéchal & LeFevre, 2002), but other skills that improve the capacity for reading to enhance empathy develop more later in life (e.g., mental simulations, emotional awareness; Dore et al., 2018; Van Der Bolt & Tellegen, 1995). Though the potential for reading to enhance empathy exists across the lifespan, adulthood stand out for several reasons.

Reading is not likely to enhance empathy among children because of developmental constraints on empathy and reading abilities. Elementary signs of empathy are present in infancy (Davidov et al., 2013; Geangu et al., 2011; Tousignant et al., 2017). Children develop perspective taking (Farrant et al., 2012), emotion regulation (Eisenberg & Fabes, 2006), and affective mentalizing abilities (Cheng et al., 2014) with age. Growth in these empathy abilities also tends to improve reading comprehension abilities. For example, theory of mind (i.e., recognizing others' as having their own internal thoughts and feelings) is central to both empathy (Shamay-Tsoory & Aharon-Peretz, 2007) and reading comprehension (Atkinson et al., 2017; Dore et al., 2018), and children's language skills predict both their emotional competence (Beck et al., 2012) and reading comprehension (Perfetti & Stafura, 2014). Still, children's capacity for mental simulation is simplistic compared to adults (Wassenburg et al., 2015), and they recognize fewer emotional cues in texts (Diergarten & Nieding, 2015), limiting their capacity for imaginative engagement (Barnes, 2018). Though facets of empathy development work synergistically with growing reading comprehension abilities, the cognitive complexities of reading and empathy suggest reading has a limited effect on empathy in childhood compared to later periods.

Empathy development continues across adolescence, but it is still relatively underdeveloped compared to empathy in adults. During adolescence, research suggests the influence of physiological factors on empathy development tapers off because of slowing physical growth (e.g., neurological changes) and the conclusion of puberty (Blakemore & Choudhury, 2006; Steinberg, 2005). Adolescence is when individuals begin to rely on prefrontal areas when considering others' emotions (Decety & Michalska, 2010), and they more efficiently regulate their affective responses to others than children (Mella et al., 2012). However, these processes continually undergo change and development with age until they asymptote in late adolescence (Decety et al., 2012). Psychological and social factors also exert a greater influence on empathy development with age. Adolescents' expanding cognitive abilities contribute to increasingly complex representations of the self and others (Decety & Sommerville, 2003), providing new ways for individuals to think about others (Decety & Jackson, 2004). These developing empathic abilities help adolescents navigate their increasingly complex social situations (Lam et al., 2012) and comprehend more complex emotions compared to children (Rieffe & Camodeca, 2016). Though adolescence is a time of growing capacity for and reliance on empathy, there are some age-related constraints on empathy development during adolescence that bring into question how likely reading is to enhance empathy among adolescents.

Changes in adolescents' reading abilities suggest reading could enhance empathy among adolescents, but it is unclear to what extent it does so. The development of reading abilities largely concludes in adolescence (García & Cain, 2014); as such, there are few studies of reading ability in adolescence and later (Duncan et al., 2016). Compared to children, though, adolescents have better semantic processing abilities (Duncan et al., 2016), can monitor and simulate more complex social situations mentally (Somerville, 2013), and comprehend a wider array of

emotions (Mouw et al., 2019). Adolescents do approach reading differently than children, reading for different outcomes (e.g., stories as cultural experiences) than younger ones (Valkenburg & Piotrowski, 2017; Van Der Bolt & Tellegen, 1995), but they still do not gain social insights from reading like adults do (Mouw et al., 2019; Narvaez et al., 2010). Lastly, though reading is low on their list of media preferences, reading is still a valued, engaging activity for many adolescents (Desmond, 2012; Schiefele et al., 2012). In sum, there is growth in empathic abilities during adolescence, but it is unclear whether and how much reading exercises adolescents' growing empathic abilities.

Empathy development continues (Allemand et al., 2015) and reaches full maturity in adulthood, which makes this a period of the lifespan when reading is well-suited to enhance empathy. For instance, emotion regulation and emotional complexity (i.e., experiencing positive and negative affect simultaneously) increase across much of adulthood (Hay & Diehl, 2011; Zimmermann & Iwanski, 2014). Perspective taking and altruistic concern slightly increase across young and middle adulthood (O'Brien et al., 2013; Sze et al., 2012). Young and midlife adults score and perform similarly on self-report empathy and emotion recognition measures (Bailey et al., 2018; Duval et al., 2011; Khanjani et al., 2015). They experience and understand greater emotional complexity and draw on more social experiences and schemas, compared to adolescents, that support empathic responding (Labouvie-Vief, 2015; Narvaez, 2005). As well, changes in empathy during adulthood are likely not age-related (Grühn et al., 2008). Rather, across 12 years in one study, within person changes best accounted for changes in empathy, suggesting controllable factors, like reading, can enhance empathy in adulthood. However, there is evidence for age-related declines in empathic abilities in late adulthood (see Beadle & de la Vega, 2019; Henry et al., 2013).

Adults' reading skills and habits also support reading as a way to enhance their empathy. Adult readers perform well at specifying and tracking characters' emotions in stories (Gygax & Gillioz, 2015), and they attune closely to subtle, emotional cues in texts (Mouw et al., 2019), which can enhance imaginative engagement (Barnes, 2018). Their emotional reactions tend to be stronger and more closely aligned with characters' emotions than child readers' (Diergarten & Nieding, 2015; Mouw et al., 2019). As well, adults perform better at extracting moral themes and social lessons from stories compared to children and young adolescents (Narvaez et al., 1999, 2010). Regarding reading behavior, adults, compared to adolescents, read more varied content (Botzakis, 2009) more frequently (Smith, 2000) and draw on different motivations for reading varying from thinking of reading as important to self, reading to learn or be challenged, reading so others see one as a "reader" (Schiefele et al., 2012; Schutte & Malouff, 2007). These motivations are important, as thinking of reading as important to one's self makes reading intrinsically motivating and predicts greater reading frequency and enjoyment (Schutte & Malouff, 2007). For these reasons, adulthood is considered the most likely stage in the lifespan when everyday fiction reading will enhance empathy. Therefore, adults were featured in the present study. Moreover, the developmental perspective on reading and empathy also brings attention to another benefit of studying empathy and how reading enhances empathy. Namely, positive outcomes associated with empathy and reading tend to increase with age.

Positive Outcomes of Empathy and Reading

Positive outcomes associated with empathy, including altruism (Batson et al., 2015) and prosocial behavior (Davis, 2015; FeldmanHall et al., 2015), are compelling reasons to study empathy (Zaki & Ochsner, 2016). However, there remains a question as to whether and to what extent reading contributes to these positive outcomes (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018). Evidence of

a relationship between reading and positive outcomes associated with empathy would provide greater impetus for understanding how reading enhances empathy and support the value of reading as an effective strategy to enhance empathy. The evidence suggests reading does contribute to empathy-related positive outcomes, and, beyond that, these positive outcomes become more impactful with age.

Given that reading can enhance empathy, there is likely a connection between reading and positive outcomes associated with empathy. Empathy promotes prosocial outcomes in several ways (Zaki, 2018), and reading can contribute to such outcomes (Coyne et al., 2018). Empathy motivates altruism, expressing a concern for others without expecting something in return, because empathy helps people view others as similar to themselves (Batson et al., 2015). Reading provides an exercise in connecting with and responding to others in this way (Van Der Bolt & Tellegen, 1995; Vitz, 1990; Wolk, 2009). Perspective taking, which reading exercises, amplifies empathic prosocial behavior by increasing perceived self-other overlap (Davis, 2015; Lamm et al., 2007). The overlap motivates a desire to help similar others and decreases stereotyped reasoning by "humanizing" others (Galinsky & Moskowitz, 2000). Empathy also acts as a moral force that provides emotional meaning to moral action (Zaki, 2018), and reading may act as a "moral laboratory" (Hakemulder, 2000, p. 11) that helps contextualize moral values. The laboratory metaphor suggests readers are exposed to moral dilemmas and safely "observe" characters' behaviors in stories, without experiencing dilemmas themselves. In this way, reading can help expand one's moral imagination (i.e., learning new ways to act virtuously; Deitcher, 2013) and evoke moral emotions (Haidt, 2003) that prime prosocial action (Aquino et al., 2011), help people overcome stereotypes and prejudices (Vezzali et al., 2015), and motivate donating behavior (Freeman et al., 2009; Koopman, 2015). Reading stories with prosocial themes

promotes prosociality by enhancing empathy (Johnson, 2012; Johnson et al., 2013). In sum, empathy reliably promotes positive outcomes, and reading, when it enhances empathy, likely contributes to these positive outcomes.

The outcomes associated with empathy among adults further supports the value of promoting empathy, through reading, during this period. Positive outcomes of empathy are impactful in childhood and adolescence but less so than in adulthood. For instance, during childhood, positive outcomes of empathy tend to benefit children and those immediately around them—bringing a teddy bear to a friend (Hoffman, 2008) or donating stickers to someone in need (Williams et al., 2014). Parents reading to children predicts greater socio-emotional competence (Karniol, 2012) and prosocial behavior (Schapira & Aram, 2020). Adolescents' empathy negatively predicts bullying behavior (van Noorden et al., 2015) and promotes prosociality (Padilla-Walker & Christiansen, 2011). However, dispositional altruistic concern is associated with young adults' willingness to donate organs, motivating individuals to look past fears of bodily harm (Cohen & Hoffner, 2013). Adults' empathy is positively associated with charitable giving to friends and strangers (Beadle et al., 2015; Sze et al., 2012) and volunteer efforts (Davis et al., 1999). Other-oriented volunteering, compared to self-oriented, can reduce mortality risk in older adults (Konrath et al., 2012). Brain maturation contributes to more complex moral reasoning (Decety et al., 2012). This becomes apparent in young adulthood (Eisenberg et al., 2005) when altruistic concern and perspective taking become closely associated with care-based moral action (e.g., alleviating others' distress; Skoe, 2010). These developmental insights provide clear impetus for investigating how reading enhances empathy among adults.

Adulthood represents the lifespan stage when reading likely contributes the most to empathy development and brings about the most impactful positive outcomes associated with

empathy. In light of this, the DSMT Model (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013) serves as a useful framework by highlighting developmental perspectives regarding how reading enhances empathy and for helping to formulate specific testable hypotheses derived from reading-specific theories (e.g., Mar & Oatley, 2008). Moreover, the DSMT Model also points to other influential factors to consider when investigating the relationship between reading and empathy—media response variables.

Media Response Variables

In addition to considering characteristics of readers, it is necessary to also consider how characteristics of media (e.g., plot, theme, verisimilitude) influence readers to fully understand how reading influences empathy (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). Different media evoke different media responses (e.g., emotions, attitude change; Bandura, 2009; Barnes, 2015; Moyer-Gusé, 2008), and some media responses are more impactful than others. Transportation and reading flow are phenomenologically rich media responses (Green & Brock, 2002; Thissen et al., 2018). The highly engaging nature of transportation and reading flow makes them likely to evoke stronger media effects (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013), which also makes them more likely to exercise empathic abilities.

Narrative Transportation

Narrative transportation is likely to mediate the relationship between reading and empathy because it helps bring stories to life, drawing on empathic abilities to do so. Narrative *transportation* refers to the melding of attention, emotion, and mental imagery in a way that "transports" readers into stories (Green & Brock, 2000, 2002), or the feeling of getting lost in a story. Transportation makes stories feel more real (Green & Brock, 2002) and is integral to thinking of stories as simulations (Mar & Oatley, 2008). Indeed, neuroimaging evidence shows

the brain tracks the "physical" location and activity of story characters and updates its mental simulation as stories change, recruiting similar areas as those used in real-world situations (Speer et al., 2009). Readers have highly varied transportation experiences with individual (Carpenter & Green, 2012) and story-specific differences (van Laer et al., 2014). Still, when readers are transported, the feeling amplifies emotional reactions (Green & Dill, 2012), which can exercise affective responding, perspective taking, and affective mentalizing abilities (Oatley, 2016). This conclusion is further supported by evidence that stories are interpreted using similar neural networks that contribute to empathy (Decety, 2011; Mar, 2011; Tamir et al., 2016).

The link between empathy and transportation is not just theoretical—empirical findings support transportation as a mediator between reading and empathy. Transportation into news stories about stigmatized groups (e.g., elderly, prisoners, immigrants) increases empathy for individuals in those groups (Oliver et al., 2012). One study found transportation into a story about a counter-stereotypical female Muslim character increased empathy for and decreased negative attitudes toward Muslim people (Johnson, 2013). Transportation increased affective responding and mentalizing, which promoted perspective taking and attenuated prejudiced attitudes. Another study found transportation evoked stronger emotional reactions and greater prosocial behavior (e.g., helping a researcher with an unrelated task) after reading, even controlling for dispositional empathy (Johnson, 2012). This was replicated in a study manipulating reading instructions to influence transportation (Johnson et al., 2013). Readers in the imagery generation condition were more transported, which led to stronger empathic feelings and more prosocial behavior, compared to those in the semantic focus condition. Greater transportation into stories can increase perspective taking and altruistic concern across one week's time (Bal & Veltkamp, 2013). Overall, theoretical reasoning and empirical evidence
provide confidence that transportation is an influential mechanism in the relationship between reading and empathy.

Reading Flow

Reading flow is also likely to mediate the relationship between reading and empathy because it stimulates readers to think more deeply about stories, like imaginative engagement (Barnes, 2018). Reading flow refers to an emergent balance between absorption into stories and smooth processing of the story (Thissen et al., 2018). The balance is based on readers' skill levels (e.g., vocabulary, emotion recognition) and challenge levels inherent in media (e.g., historical vernacular, characters' perspectives). For example, some readers may think of Shakespeare's work as artful while others think of him as waxing poetic, and this may be related to experiencing reading flow. Much of the betrayal, humor, and emotion that characterizes Shakespeare's works is readily lost on passive readers but can be highly engaging and enjoyable for motivated readers (e.g., Barnes, 2018; Narvaez, 2001, 2002). Reading flow has been shown to increase reading frequency by promoting enjoyment of reading (Thissen et al., 2018), which is a primary motivation for media use, like reading (Konijn, 2012). As well, reading flow occurs more in response to reading challenging stories (McQuillan & Conde, 1996), the likes of which may help readers think of others in a new light and which are often perceived as challenging but meaningful (Oliver & Raney, 2011). That challenging stories spur new thoughts about others further supports the link between reading flow and the exercise of empathic abilities. In sum, evidence suggests reading flow mediates the relationship between reading and empathy.

Past research has sometimes conflated transportation and reading flow because of the similarities between them, but, in this study, the two are considered theoretically and empirically distinct. Similarities between transportation and flow include loss of self-awareness, narrowing

of attention, and distortion of time (Green & Dill, 2012; Nakamura et al., 2019). Smooth processing of stories, a component of reading flow, is associated with greater transportation (Vaughn et al., 2010). However, transportation can be experienced as relaxing (Green et al., 2004), whereas reading flow is clearly dependent on the presence of a challenge (Thissen et al., 2018), and other work suggests these two are not as strongly correlated as they seem (e.g., Mitchell, 2019). Taken together, these findings support the two being distinct.

Other Individual Differences

Other media response variables, besides transportation and reading flow, likely influence the relationship between reading and empathy (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013). For example, lifelong reading represents a potential confounds if it were not assessed (Kidd & Castano, 2013; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017).

Lifelong reading is strongly, positively associated with empathy in reading studies (Black & Barnes, 2015; De Mulder et al., 2017; Panero et al., 2016; Samur et al., 2018). *Lifelong reading* refers to habitual reading, across years of time (Mar et al., 2006). It is assessed with the Author Recognition Test (Acheson et al., 2008; Moore & Gordon, 2015), which requires respondents to identify authors' name from a list of real and fake author names, rather than just report about their reading habits. This is useful as self-report about one's reading habits is subject to potential recall bias (Sudman et al., 1996) and socially desirable responding (Hart et al., 2015). Moreover, higher scores on the Author Recognition Test are positively correlated with other indicators of habitual reading (e.g., vocabulary size, diary studies of reading; Mar et al., 2006, 2009), and the positive association between lifelong reading and empathy is robust (Mumper & Gerrig, 2017).

Current Study

This dissertation sought to answer the central question, how does reading enhance empathy? I examined this question with a quasi-experimental, diary study of media use among a sample of adult readers (reading group) and another group selected because they likely read less frequently (leisure group). To be clear, this was not an intervention designed to enhance empathy, but an investigation of how reading enhances empathy in everyday life among a purposefully selected sample of readers (e.g., Creswell & Creswell, 2018). A secondary question was, to what extent does reading enhance empathy and promote real-world positive outcomes? The first six hypotheses relate to the question of how reading enhances empathy, and the seventh one relates to the question of to what extent reading promotes real-world positive outcomes of empathy.

Hypothesis 1: Time spent reading will be positively associated with gains in self-reported empathy (H1a) and objective emotion recognition (H1b). Reading is expected to enhance both empathy and emotion recognition (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017).

Hypothesis 2: The relationship between time spent reading and empathy will be moderated by lifelong reading behavior, such that those with lower author recognition scores will show greater gains in empathy (H2a) and emotion recognition (H2b) compared to those with higher author recognition scores.

Hypothesis 3: There will be greater growth in the affective responding (H3a), affective mentalizing (H3b), and perspective taking (H3c) components of empathy than in the emotion regulation and self-other awareness components (Segal et al., 2017).

Hypothesis 4: Time spent reading will be positively associated with transportation (H4a) and reading flow (H4b).

Hypothesis 5: Transportation (H5a) and reading flow (H5b) will partially mediate the relationships of time spent reading to empathy and time spent reading to emotion recognition.

Hypothesis 6: Those in the reading group will show greater gains in empathy (H6a) and emotion recognition (H6b) than those in the leisure group.

Hypothesis 7: Empathy (H7a) and emotion recognition (H7b) will be positively associated with donating one's compensation.

In addition to these hypotheses, it is unclear whether empathy and emotion recognition will be related (e.g., Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019) when using the updated conceptualization of empathy (Segal et al., 2017). Thus, I propose a research question: Will empathy and emotion recognition be significantly correlated with each other (RQ1)?

Chapter 2

Method

Participants

Participants (N = 252) were recruited using criterion and snowball sampling techniques (Henry, 2009) through various channels, such as social media (e.g., Instagram, Facebook), college professors recruiting students, and Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk) workers. Several participants completed the pretest but did not complete the posttest (n = 36) and so were dropped from the study, with most (n = 26) dropped from the reading group. This resulted in an 86% study completion rate. As well, some participants were dropped (n = 5) for reporting no reading across the study or for not paying attention to surveys while completing them (e.g., scoring very low on the objective emotion recognition measure). These exclusions resulted in a final sample of 211 participants.

There were 111 participants in the reading group. Reading group participants mostly consisted of young adults ($M_{age} = 33.4$, SD = 13.1, range = 18-71) who were hig1hly educated (80% completed a bachelor's degree or higher), mostly female (86%, 4% genderqueer), and mostly White (80%, 10% Asian, and 3% of less Latinx, Black, Middle Eastern, or Multiracial). Many participants were members of different book clubs (31%), a few were English literature students (7%), but most were self-identified avid readers (62%). This demographic makeup is similar to other book club groups (Sedo, 2003). Criteria for being in the reading group included: (a) self-identifying as an "avid" reader, (b) who was planning to read at least one self-selected fiction book across the next month, (c) who was at least 18 years old, and (d) who was willing to engage in the study for one month. Reading group participants were mostly recruited through personal connections and social media outreach; however, an individual with a popular

"Bookstagram" Instagram shared the study with their 28,000 followers, and 31% of participants joined the study from that post. Several liberal arts college professors also shared recruitment messages with students.

There were 100 participants in the leisure group. Leisure group participants mostly consisted of young adults ($M_{age} = 32.1$, SD = 11.3, range = 19-72) who were well educated (62%) completed a bachelor's degree of higher), majority female (59%, 3% genderqueer), and ethnically diverse (56% White, 24% Asian, 9% Black and Multiracial, respectively, and 1% Latinx and American Indian, respectively). Leisure group participants were mostly recruited through the /r/SampleSize subreddit and MTurk. Bots and inattentive humans were screened from the Reddit users (n = 24) by assessing their emotion recognition scores. Bots and inattentive humans tended to score much lower than actively engaged humans. With the MTurk users, bots (Chmielewski & Kucker, 2020) were screened by using TurkPrime's "Pro Features" (Litman et al., 2017) that help direct surveys to high-quality respondents who consistently pass attention checks. As well, participants were required to complete a short "essay" describing their favorite leisure time activities and provide their email address. If their essay was convincingly written to suggest they were attentive humans, they were invited to complete the pretest and continue in the study (n = 73). Criteria for being in the leisure group included: (a) being at least 18 years old and (b) willing to engage in the study for one month.

This final sample size was deemed sufficient based on power analyses using an OLS framework. Though the OLS framework is applicable here (Hancock & French, 2013), there are caveats worth addressing when conducting power analyses for multilevel structural equation modeling (MSEM). Power analyses for MSEM are complicated by the large number of variables affecting model fit and precision (e.g., level 1 and 2 variances, factor loadings, factor

covariances; Hoyle & Gottfredson, 2015; Maas & Hox, 2005; McNeish, 2017; Preacher et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2013). One recommendation is to consider the weakest links, which tend to be indirect effects (Wolf et al., 2013). Indirect effects were only relevant in the mediation model using the reading groups' responses, and I estimated the indirect effect would be small to medium in size, based on previous research (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017). Given this, power analysis in G*Power (Faul et al., 2009) suggested an ideal sample of 160 participants in the reading group, with the following parameters: R^2 increase with eight predictors, f^2 effect size = 0.11, α = .05, and power = .85. However, because I used validated scales for reliable constructs and expected to have adequate level 1 data (6-9 data points), a minimum sample size of 100 participants was considered sufficient (Christ et al., 2017; Maas & Hox, 2005; Preacher et al., 2011) for both the reading and leisure groups.

I used a snowball sampling approach to recruit participants, and I used a criterion sampling approach to ensure participants met eligibility requirements (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Participants in both groups had to be (a) 18 or older, (b) fluent in English, and (c) complete both the pre- and posttest of the study. In addition, those included in the reading group had to (d) be English literature students, in a book club, or consider themselves "avid readers" and (e) were planning to read at least one fiction book in the upcoming month. These two additional criteria for the reading group were implemented to maximize the likelihood participants would be reading frequently, the main characteristic of interest in this study.

Measures

All measures are included in Appendix A.

Empathy

Empathy was measured using the Empathy Assessment Index (EAI; Segal et al., 2017), a 21-item measure of self-reported empathy that assesses the five components of empathy affective responding (5 items), affective mentalizing (3 items), perspective taking (5 items), emotion regulation (4 items), and self-other awareness (4 items). Example items include "When I see someone receive a gift that makes them happy, I feel happy myself" (affective responding) and "I can tell the difference between my own and someone else's feelings" (self-other awareness). Respondents indicated how often they feel what is described from 1 (*never*) to 6 (*always*), and higher scores represent greater empathy. Internal consistency for the subscales was acceptable (Cronbach's $\alpha > .69$) and good overall ($\alpha = .86$). Though there are presently too few data to assess how sensitive EAI items are to changes across short time periods, the EAI is conceptualized as a change-sensitive instrument, capable of detecting small changes over time (E. Segal, personal communication, December 16, 2020).

To supplement quantitative findings related to the EAI, I included a free response question asking participants' if and how their empathic responding changed over the course of the study. Reading group participants were asked, "Do you feel that time you spent reading recently, particularly during the study, impacted the ways you think about or interact with other people?" For comparison, leisure group participants were asked, "Do you feel that your outlook toward other people and others' perspectives has changed over the past month?" The qualitative responses were analyzed to identify themes that emerged, and, in reading group participants' responses, to gauge whether they supported theoretical expectations about how reading enhances empathy (e.g., Barnes, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008; Narvaez, 2002).

Emotion Recognition

Emotion recognition abilities were measured with the Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short (GERT-S; Schlegel & Scherer, 2016). The test is an objective measure of emotion recognition and directly draws on empathic abilities, including affective responding, mentalizing, and perspective taking. It consists of 42 short video clips with sound (duration 1-3 seconds) in which 10 different actors (5 female, 5 male) express 14 different emotions (e.g., joy, interest, anger). Respondents select which emotion was displayed from the 14 response options after each clip and receive a score of 1 (*correct*) or 0 (*incorrect*). Higher scores represent greater emotion recognition abilities. The test takes about 10 minutes to complete. Actors are presented from the waist up, providing gestural cues, and pronounce a string of made up syllables without meaning, conveying emotional cues through their voice. The benefits of the GERT-S are that the stimuli are multimodal (i.e., sound, sight), and it assesses objective abilities. The GERT-S has shown good internal consistency and construct validity (Schlegel & Scherer, 2016). As well, the GERT-S is sensitive to change in emotion recognition abilities across short periods of time (e.g., 4 weeks; Lamothe et al., 2018; Schlegel et al., 2017).

Prosocial Behavior

Real-world prosocial behavior was measured by giving participants the option to donate their compensation to a book-related charity (e.g., <u>Book Aid International</u>; Freeman et al., 2009; Koopman, 2015). I donated all compensation earmarked this way on participants' behalf. This measure was not normally distributed, as most participants either donated all (n = 68) or none (n = 107) of their compensation, so this variable was dichotomized (1 = yes donation, 0 = no donation).

Planned Reading Behavior

In the reading group, participants were asked about their planned reading behavior during the period of the study. They listed titles of up to five books, minimum of one, they planned to read across the following month. They planned to read 3.56 books, on average (SD = 1.35), covering a total of 386 books. Book titles from the pretest were piped into subsequent surveys, so participants were explicitly cued about each book they were reading in their diary survey responses. They also listed the genre(s) of the books they were reading, with response options like "Classic literature," "Romance," "Science fiction," "Mystery," etc. They were asked why they were reading their books, with response options including "For a book club," "For class," "For leisure," and an open-ended option.

Diary Survey Measures

The diary survey measures differed between the reading and leisure groups. Reading group participants completed measures of transportation, reading flow, and reading behavior, whereas leisure group participants reported about their leisure activities. Though the questions differed between groups, they were designed to be comparable in both time (e.g., < 5 minutes) and content (e.g., unobtrusive questions about everyday activities).

Reading Behavior. Reading group participants reported about their reading activity and surroundings while reading. The first question in each survey was: (a) Did you spend time reading since you were last surveyed? If no, they were asked if they already completed that book, and then moved on to the next block of questions. This happened for each book. If yes, a block of questions followed. These included (b) how much time did you spend reading since you were last surveyed? Response options were presented in 30-minute blocks (e.g., *More than 30 minutes but less than 1 hour*), ranging from 1 (*Less than 30 minutes*) to 9 (*More than 4 hours*). (c) Why were you reading? Response options included "I had to," "I wanted to," and "I both had to and

wanted to." (d) While reading, were there other people around you? If yes, how many? (e) Were you distracted by other things while reading? Response options ranged from 1 (*Not at all*) to 7 (*Very much*). (f) About how long has it been since you last spent time reading? Respondents entered an amount of time (e.g., 1 hour, 2 days). (g) Are there any thoughts or feelings related to your reading experience(s) that you want to share? This was an open-ended, optional question in each survey.

Transportation. Reading group participants reported on narrative transportation, which was measured with the 6-item Transportation Scale-Short Form (Appel et al., 2015). The short form is strongly correlated with the original scale (Green & Brock, 2000), and, though items tap different constructs (i.e., cognition, emotion, imagination), they load well onto one general factor (Appel et al., 2015). An example item is "I was mentally involved in the story while reading." Response options ranged from 1 (*Not at all*) to 7 (*Very much*), and higher scores represent greater transportation. Participants were asked to recall how transported they felt during their most recent reading experience(s), since last surveyed. This was done for each book mentioned in the pretest. Internal consistency for the items was good ($\alpha = .81$).

Reading Flow. Reading group participants reported about reading flow, which was measured with the 8-item Reading Flow Short Scale (RFSS; Thissen et al., 2018). Example items from the two subscales include "I felt optimally challenged while reading" (absorption), and "During reading I became so oblivious that I was completely unaware of myself" (smooth processing). The items load well onto the two factors, and there is evidence for convergent validity with measures of reading self-efficacy and enjoyment (Thissen et al., 2018). Further, RFSS scores were positively associated with recalled reading flow experiences after reading a detailed description of reading flow, and scores on the midpoint for absorption and smooth

processing correlated with the greatest enjoyment of reading. Response options range from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly agree*), and higher scores indicate greater flow. Participants were asked to recall to what degree they were in flow during their most recent reading experience(s), since last surveyed. This was done for each book mentioned in the pretest. Internal consistency for the items was good ($\alpha = .85$).

Leisure Activities. Leisure group participants reported on time spent on leisure activities like exercising, reading fiction books, and using social media. They were asked if they had spent any time on any of these activities (*yes, no*). If yes to any of them, they indicated how much time they spent on those activities, in 30-minute blocks (e.g., Less than 30 minutes, More than 30 minutes but less than 1 hour). There was a free response option to describe their activities. These questions were designed to be like those in the reading group (i.e., focus on time spent on everyday activities) that would take a similar amount of time to complete as the reading group and that would reduce measurement reactivity (e.g., not cueing participants about empathy; Barta et al., 2012).

Person-level Measures

Lifelong Reading. Lifelong reading was measured with the Author Recognition Test (Moore & Gordon, 2015). The test requires respondents to select names they recognize from a list of 50 fiction authors (e.g., T. S. Eliot) and 50 foil authors (e.g., Gary Curwen) in a check-all-that-apply format. Responses are scored as 1 (*correct*), 0 (*not selected*), or -1 (*incorrect*). Scores are summed, with foil selection lowering one's score. Higher scores are indicative of greater lifelong reading and are positively associated with everyday reading behavior. The test discriminates well between avid readers and less avid readers (Moore & Gordon, 2015).

Social Desirability. Social desirability was measured with a 14-item adaptation of the Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding, Short Form (Hart et al., 2015). The scale assesses one's tendency toward self-deceptive enhancement (SDE; 7 items) and impression management (IM; 7 items). Example items include "I never regret my decisions" (SDE) and "I never cover up my mistakes" (IM). The scale loads onto two distinct but related factors (Hart et al., 2015). Response options range from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly agree*), and higher scores represent greater socially desirable responding. Internal consistency was good overall ($\alpha = .80$). A non-significant correlation between this measure and other measures indicates participants were likely not responding in socially desirable ways.

Supplemental Measures

Given that all participants were in the midst of a global pandemic while data collection was happening, I decided to add a question to gauge the influence that COVID-related lockdowns might have had on participants' responses. Participants were asked to answer a freeresponse question, "Do you feel that COVID-related measures in your life influenced your reading habits/leisure activities over the past month?" I expected many participants to respond in the affirmative, given COVID-related lockdowns impacted many aspects of most people's lives (Mata et al., 2021). I analyzed the qualitative responses to identify emergent themes. I expected responses would provide insight into how lockdowns impacted participants' behavior during the study and to gauge whether those impacts were so influential as to make the results disparate and ungeneralizable compared to behaviors before (or after) lockdown. However, I did not have expectations as to what themes would emerge from their responses.

I also included a measure of *empathic concern* from the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI; Davis 1983) to supplement the other empathy measures, as the IRI has been shown to be

sensitive to change as a result of reading (Bal & Veltkamp, 2013; Djikic et al., 2013). Though the IRI does not directly measure empathy (Segal et al., 2017), it is closely related to empathy (Zaki, 2020) and is the most widely used empathy measure, to date (Konrath et al., 2011). The scale consists of 6-items, and an example item is, "When I see someone being taken advantage of, I feel kind of protective toward them." Response options ranged from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly agree*). Scores are averaged, and higher scores indicate greater empathic concern. It had good internal consistency at pretest and posttest (α s > .82).

Procedure

Appendix B provides a flow chart outlining the study procedures for the two groups. All procedures were deemed exempt from review by CGU's IRB Board. In the reading group, participants first completed an interest survey, which functioned as a screener tool. Participants were told the study was an investigation of everyday reading behaviors, and, if they were planning to read fiction across the next month, then they could begin the study by providing their email address. Appendix C shows an example of the study overview participants viewed. After completing the screener, participants were emailed a link to the pretest survey, which included the empathy, emotion recognition, empathic concern, and planned reading behavior measures. Reading behavior questions included the number, titles, and genre(s) of book(s) they planned to read during the study. Participants also completed person-level measures (i.e., lifelong reading, social desirability) and demographics. These person-level variables were measured at the pretest to reduce potential sensitizing effects on responses associated with participating in the study (Rosenbaum & Johnson, 2016).

To attenuate challenges associated with recruiting online (e.g., bots posing as participants; Chmielewski & Kucker, 2020), recruitment procedures differed slightly in the

leisure group. Participants (n = 24) were recruited first from Reddit, and they had to score above a 17 on the GERT-S and correctly respond to two attention check questions to be included in the study. Those who did not meet these criteria (n = 912) were removed. I switched to recruiting on MTurk after pulling my study from Reddit. As an extra safeguard against recruiting bots into the study, MTurk participants (n = 73) wrote an "essay" about their favorite leisure activities¹ to determine if they were likely human, in addition to meeting the Reddit-group inclusion criteria. Those who did not meet these criteria (n = 231) were removed.

Approximately 3 days after completing the pretest, participants in both conditions received a link to their first diary survey. During the pretest, participants selected when they wanted to receive their diary surveys (anytime between 9 am and 9 pm). Timing was consistent across the study period to reduce response burden (Gunthert & Wenze, 2012). Participants continued receiving diary surveys on a fixed interval, every 3 days, across 27 days (nine surveys, in total). Surveys for reading group participants focused on reading activity across the prior 3 days. If participants reported no reading, they completed filler questions about mood, mindfulness, and an open-ended question to describe how their week was going. Filler questions were intended to dissuade participants from simply reporting no reading. Surveys for leisure group participants focused on mood and leisure activities across the prior 3 days. All participants received one survey email reminder after 24 hours, if they did not complete their diary survey.

Within 24 hours of completing the last diary survey, participants were sent the posttest survey, which included the empathy, emotion recognition, empathic concern, and prosocial behavior measures, as well as the supplemental free-response questions (i.e., COVID-related impacts, study impacts on behavior, perspectives on changes in empathy). As compensation,

¹ One MTurk participant described their favorite leisure activity as fiction reading, so I invited them into the reading group.

participants received \$2 for completing the pretest, \$0.50 for each completed diary survey, and \$1 for completing the posttest. They received a bonus of \$0.50, \$1.00, and \$1.50 for completing at least 3, 6, or 9 diary surveys, respectively, to encourage continued participation. In total, participants could receive up to \$10.50 in compensation. They had the option to donate any part of this compensation to charity. This option was presented to them at the end of the posttest, when they learned how much they were receiving in compensation and prior to debriefing.

Analysis Plan

Quantitative Analyses

I used multilevel path analysis to test most of my hypotheses because of the hierarchical nature of diary data (i.e., within-person level 1 diary response, between-person level 2 response) requires taking account of between- and within-levels of variance (Nezlek, 2012). I used a 1-1-2 mediation design (Krull & MacKinnon, 2001), referring to time spent reading (level 1) predicting transportation and reading flow (level 1) predicting empathy and emotion recognition (level 2). This design (i.e., level 2 outcome) cannot be fit with traditional multilevel modeling, so a flexible SEM framework must be used (Card, 2012; Christ et al., 2017; Preacher et al., 2010). In light of this, I used Mplus to run analyses (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). In path analysis, all measures are treated as observed variables, so composites were calculated. I used Bayesian estimation (as opposed to maximum likelihood) because it has several advantages, including increased power with small sample sizes (e.g., N = 100), low Type I error rates, and probabilistic interpretation (i.e., likelihood of results being true given the hypothesis; Miočević et al., 2017; Yuan & MacKinnon, 2009). For all analyses, I used the default, diffuse priors in Mplus (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). This approach lets the data "speak for themselves" in the posteriors (Yuan &

MacKinnon, 2009, p. 306) and produces estimates similar to or more precise than the maximum likelihood approach (Miočević et al., 2017).

Hypotheses 1-5 (i.e., reading enhancing empathy, partially mediated by transportation and reading flow) were tested using path analysis. Hypothesis 6 (i.e., differences in empathy between groups) was tested using one-way ANCOVA. Hypothesis 7 (i.e., empathy and donating) was tested using logistic path analysis, with group predicting donation behavior or not. Ancillary hypotheses (i.e., lifelong reading and empathy; need for affect, mind reading motivation and transportation) were tested using path analysis, specifying the different predictors and outcomes of interest. As well, RQ1 was assessed using path analysis, looking at the strength of relationship between self-report and objective empathy scores.

Qualitative Analyses

Free responses to questions about how participants' empathy changed, how COVIDrelated lockdowns impacted participants, and how participating in the study impacted participants' behaviors were analyzed using a conventional content analysis (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). This approach was useful because I did not have a priori expectations about what participants might describe as having an impact on their empathy or how COVID-related lockdowns or the study design might influence them. Rather, the content analysis approach allowed for examining participants' unique perspectives and the development of themes based on their perspectives.

Measurement Reactivity

Finally, an important consideration with longitudinal diary data is measurement reactivity, referring to systematic biasing of instrumentation and procedures on the validity of data (e.g., testing effects pertinent to diary studies; Barta et al., 2012). Measurement reactivity

was not expected to be a significant issue in this study. The main sources of reactivity (i.e., feeling like one is being observed, social desirability, satisficing when responding) were attenuated by (a) spacing out diary responses across days, (b) measuring social desirability and asking about innocuous behaviors (i.e., reading), and (c) keeping diary surveys short. To increase confidence that measurement reactivity was not an issue, participants were asked to answer a free-response question, "Do you feel that participating in this study influenced your reading habits/leisure activity choices over the past month?" Using content analysis, qualitative responses were coded and emergent themes that shed light on how the study procedure influenced participants, if it did, were identified. Further, I assessed reactivity by checking the statistical assumption of stationarity. Stationarity requires that participants' responses do not vary systematically because of simply time (McNeish & Hamaker, 2020). That is, responses at measurement occasion 1 should not be correlated with responses at measurement occasion 2 any more than they are with responses at measurement occasion 3. To check stationarity, I regressed outcomes of interest on measurement occasion as a variable. If there is no relationship between measurement occasion and outcomes of interest, stationarity is established.

Chapter 3

Results

Preliminary Analyses

Data Cleaning and Assumptions

Data cleaning entailed assessing whether participants completed an adequate number of diary surveys and whether they paid attention to the surveys while responding (i.e., acceptable scores on the GERT-S, passing attention checks). In the reading group, participants completed most diary surveys (M = 8.5, SD = 0.86). One participant completed only five diaries; however, no results were significantly different when their data were excluded, so their data were retained to maintain power. Five participants had unacceptably low GERT-S scores on either the pretest or posttest (range = 6-11) and were removed. All others responded appropriately to attention checks. In the leisure group, participants completed most diary surveys (M = 8.85, SD = 0.85), and all completed six or more. Three participants' GERT-S scores were winsorized from scores of 14 or 15 to 16, to reduce the effect of negative outliers. All responded appropriately to attention checks.

Statistical assumptions were checked for all variables by examining quantile-quantile plots, histograms, boxplots, skew, and kurtosis. Other than the donation measure (which was dichotomized), all variables were normally distributed with skew and kurtosis between -1 and 1. I present zero-order correlations among within- and between-variables separately. Means, *SD*s, and correlations among diary-level variables are in Table 1. All variables were positively correlated, as expected. Means, *SD*s, and correlations among person-level variables are in Table 2. Relationships among person-level variables were generally in the directions expected.

Zero-order Correlations, Means, and Standard Deviations for							
Diary-level Variables							
	1	2	3				
1 Time spent reading							
2 Transportation	.15						
3 Reading flow	.12	.73					
М	4.07	5.69	5.44				
SD	2.55	0.91	0.94				

Table 1

Note. Correlations significant at p < .001. Average time spent reading between diaries corresponds to "more than 1.5 hours but less than 2 hours."

Table 2	
Zero-order Correlations, Means, and Standard Deviations for Person-level Variables (Reading Group Only)

	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,				5			(0	1	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1 Time reading ^a												
2 Transportation ^a	.18											
3 Reading Flow ^a	.15	.77										
4 Pre-EAI	06	.24	.17									
5 Post-EAI	13	.36	.32	.81								
6 Pre-GERT ^b	.22	.22	.15	.09	.11							
7 Post-GERT ^b	.15	.11	.11	.05	.04	.69						
8 ART ^c	01	.02	.15	01	.06	.16	.17					
9 Social Desire	02	.07	.18	.39	.35	.09	.04	.05				
10 Age	.01	05	.17	.10	.16	20	13	.41	.28			
11 Education	.03	.11	.19	.17	.15	.12	.18	.19	.02	.22		
12 Gender	.16	04	.15	.11	.09	.01	.18	.06	.13	.13	.09	
М	4.06	5.63	5.36	4.44	4.46	27.14	29.34	23.64	3.73	33.50	5.21	1.09
SD	1.74	0.70	0.75	0.56	0.54	4.51	4.79	9.58	0.84	13.03	1.34	0.95

Note. Pre- refers to pretest. Post- refers to posttest. EAI = Empathy Assessment Index, GERT = Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short, ART = Author Recognition Test, Social Desire = social desirability. Gender: 0 = male, 1 = female; genderqueer individuals (n = 5) were excluded for correlations with gender for interpretability. Bolded correlations are significant at p < .05.

^aBased on within-person average time spent reading between diaries.

^bPossible range of 0 to 42.

^cPossible range of -50 to 50.

Though participants were not randomly assigned to groups (so results are not widely generalizable), it is useful to assess similarities and differences between groups to see how comparable results were. Comparisons between groups along relevant demographic and background characteristics can be found in Table 3. As expected, the reading group had greater lifelong reading compared to the leisure group. They also reported reading between diaries more often than the leisure group. After excluding missing responses, reading group participants reported some reading (of at least one book) in 72% of diaries (677 times); whereas leisure group participants reported some reading in 17% of diaries (154 times).

Table 3

Comparison of Demographic and Background Characteristics Between Groups

	Reading Group	Leisure Group			
Variable	M (SD)/count	M (SD)/count	Statistic	Value	Comparison
Age	33.5 (13.0)	32.1 (11.3)	F	0.72	Similar
Education	5.21 (1.34)	4.56 (1.29)	χ^2	17.52**	Reading higher
Gender	86% female	59% female	χ^2	23.93***	Reading more female
Ethnicity	81% White	56% White	χ^2	21.61***	Reading less diverse
Social Desire	3.73 (0.84)	3.76 (0.85)	F	0.08	Similar
ART	23.4 (9.35)	14.9 (9.28)	F	45.55***	Reading higher
Reading responses	72%	17%	χ^2	544.31***	Reading higher

Note. Comparison column is a summary of how reading group participants compared to leisure group participants. Social Desire = social desirability, ART = Author Recognition Test, a measure of lifelong reading. Gender: 0 = male, 1 = female, 2 = genderqueer. ART scores ranged from -50 to 50. Reading responses refers to number of responses when reading occurred as a proportion of all responses. **p < .01. ***p < .001.

Timing of Responses

Timing of responses was an important consideration in this study because transportation and reading flow are short-lived effects (Green & Brock, 2002; Thissen et al., 2018). This makes them vulnerable to recall biases as more time passes between those experiences and responding about those experiences (Gunthert & Wenze, 2013; Sudman et al., 1996). The diary design helped attenuate these possible biases, as reading group participants reported about their reading experiences, on average, within 27.5 hours (SD = 24.25 hrs, median = 23.8 hrs). The time to complete diary surveys was also similar between groups, as intended, with reading group participants completing them in 21 minutes, on average (SD = 135 minutes) and leisure group participants completing them in 17 minutes, on average (SD = 110 minutes), F(1, 1817) = 0.53, p = .469.

Intraclass Correlations and Data Levels

Data had a three-level structure: responses for each book constituted level 1, responses for each diary constituted level 2, and individuals constituted level 3. There was inadequate data to estimate a three-level model though, largely because of the semi-continuous nature of reading responses. Time spent reading was a semi-continuous variable consisting of two parts (Malone & Lubansky, 2012). Participants responded (1) yes or no to time spent reading, and (2) if yes, how much time was spent reading. Participants did not report reading about the same book with regularity though. For each book mentioned in the pretest, participants could report about reading nine times. They reported reading each book, on average, between 0.74 to 2.65 (SD = 1.26 to 1.94) times. In turn, intraclass correlation (ICC), referring to how much variance is accounted for by different levels, for transportation and reading flow attributable to different books was negligible (.00-.01), and responses were collapsed across books. Participants could also report about their reading on up to five different books in each diary. Across the study period, participants read, on average, more than three books each (M = 3.56, SD = 1.35), but they only reported on one book (M = 0.89, SD = 0.77) per diary, on average. ICC for transportation and reading flow attributable to different diaries was also negligible (.00-.03), and responses were collapsed across diaries. There were within-person differences in transportation (ICC = .43) and reading flow (ICC = .49), not attributable to books or diary responses, which justified the multilevel approach to analyses though (Nezlek, 2012). Considering this, all subsequent analyses consist of within- and between-person components for all variables.

Measurement Reactivity

Measurement reactivity was a concern in this study, as the assumption of stationarity was violated, albeit to a minor degree. Among reading group participants, measurement occasion (e.g., Diary 1, Diary 2) had an insignificant but negative effect on time spent reading (B = -0.06, SD = 0.03, 95% CI [-0.12, 0.01]), such that the further along they were in the study, the less time they reported spending reading. Similarly, among leisure group participants, measurement occasion had an insignificant but negative effect on time spent reading (B = -0.04, SD = 0.03, CI [-0.10, 0.03]). However, among reading group participants, measurement occasion had a significant, positive effect on transportation (B = 0.09, SD = 0.03, CI [0.02, 0.15]) and reading flow (B = 0.12, SD = 0.03, CI [0.05, 0.18]). That is, the further along they were in the study, the more likely people were to report experiencing transportation and reading flow. Measurement occasion only exerted a small effect though, explaining 1.4% of the variance. Evidence for measurement reactivity indicates there are potential confounds that temper the interpretation of results in this study.

This small but appreciable degree of reactivity was also evidenced, particularly in the reading group, in participants' responses to the question about how the study influenced their behaviors. Roughly half (52%) said participating in the study might have or did impact their reading habits between a little to a moderate amount (M = 2.64, SD = 0.91, range = 1-5) on a 1-5 response scale. The most common theme that emerged, which 23 respondents referenced, was (a) feeling motivated and/or pressured to read more than one typically would: "It helped me

remember to set aside more time for reading (as opposed to other hobbies)." Another theme, which 6 respondents referenced, was (b) feeling like they had to persist with the five books mentioned in the pretest rather than changing books when they wanted: "Impacted the book choices I made as I tried to follow the ones I listed between completing other books not listed on initial survey." The last theme to emerge, which 4 respondents referenced, was (c) being more aware of their reactions while reading: "Usually I am unaware of how much I read, I was just more conscious of when I was reading." These qualitative responses do not fully account for measurement reactivity effects, but they do offer useful insights into how measurement reactivity manifested in this study.

Reactivity was less of a concern among leisure group participants. A minority (32%) of participants reported that the study might have or did impact their leisure activity choices, and, when it did, it was felt between a little to a moderate amount (M = 2.62, SD = 1.04, range = 1-5) on a 1-5 response scale. The most common theme that emerged, which 6 respondents referenced, was (a) they became more aware of how they were spending their free time: "It made me focus on what I was actually doing each day, like who I spent my time with and how." Another theme, which 3 respondents referenced, was (b) the study procedure made them prioritize activities they find enjoyable: "I think this study made me think more about how I spend my time each day. It made me realize that I needed to socialize more." Overall, qualitative responses suggest participants in the study did not impact either groups' empathy nor did it impact leisure group participants' reading habits.

Primary Analyses

For all hypothesis tests using path analyses, one must assess assumptions inherent in the model, like convergence and fit, to ensure the estimates from the model can be validly

interpreted (van de Schoot et al., 2014). Path models were estimated using two independent Markov Chain Monte Carlo chains (Muthén & Muthén, 2017) with 15,000 iterations. Model convergence was assessed using Gelman-Rubin criteria (Gelman & Rubin, 1992), and the model was considered to have successfully converged if potential scale reduction (PSR) values were 1.01 or less (Muthén & Asparouhov, 2012). I assessed model fit by examining two criteria: (a) the 95% CI for the difference between the observed and replicated goodness-of-fit chi-square values (χ^2 CI)—the interval should be approximately symmetrical and centered around 0 for a good fitting model—and (b) the posterior predictive *p*-value (PPP), referring to the proportion of chi-squared values obtained in the simulated data that exceed that of the actual data (van de Schoot et al., 2014). The PPP should be greater than .05, and values close to .50 indicate a very good fitting model. For all hypothesis tests, except the mediation model, the model converged and fit the data well. Hence, I do not report model evaluation statistics for most hypothesis tests. As noted, I used Bayesian estimation, and I report model estimates that are conceptually similar to frequentist statistics. I report credibility intervals, rather than confidence intervals, and a SD for the posterior distribution of data around point estimates, which is akin to SE. The interval and SD help to gauge the degree of uncertainty around estimates, and, rather than assessing p-values, intervals that do not include zero are considered statistically significant.

Transportation and Reading Flow as Mediators

The conceptual mediation model for Hypotheses 1, 4, and 5 is presented in Figure 1, and model estimates can be found in Table 4. I controlled for gender and social desirability in these analyses because they were significantly correlated with empathy (see Table 2). The first part of the model ($X \rightarrow Y Model$) fit the data well: PSR = 1.00, 95% χ^2 CI [-17.15, 21.58], PPP = .408. I did not find support for Hypothesis 1 though, as time spent reading between diaries did not

positively predict empathy or emotion recognition. The lack of a relationship between time spent reading between diaries and empathy and emotion recognition likely indicates there was no underlying mediation in the data. The second part of the model ($X \rightarrow M Model$) fit the data well: $PSR = 1.00, \chi^2 CI$ [-11.02, 10.67], PPP = .497. I did find support for Hypothesis 4, as time spent reading between diaries positively predicted transportation and reading flow. The third part of the model (X & M \rightarrow Y Model) did not fit the data well: PSR = 1.00, χ^2 CI [33.95, 96.75], PPP < 001. The lack of model fit suggests estimates for this model cannot be validly interpreted. Moreover, I did not find support for Hypothesis 5, as transportation and reading flow did not partially mediate the relationship between time spent reading between diaries and empathy and emotion recognition. The effect of time spent reading between diaries on empathy was miniscule through both transportation (indirect = 0.01, SD = 0.01) and reading flow (indirect = 0.01, SD = 0.01) 0.01). Similarly, the effect of time spent reading between diaries on emotion recognition was miniscule through both transportation (indirect = -0.02, SD = 0.07) and reading flow (indirect = 0.01, SD = 0.06). In sum, there was no evidence for transportation and reading flow acting as mediators between time spent reading between diaries and empathy or emotion recognition.



Figure 1. Conceptual mediation model showing paths from time spent reading between diaries to empathy and emotion recognition. Solid paths are significant at p < .05. Dashed paths are not significant. Path estimates are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

3				
Predictor	Outcome	Estimate	SD	95% CI
$X \rightarrow Y Model$				
Time spent reading	Empathy	-0.09	0.07	[-0.22, 0.03]
Time spent reading	Emotion recognition	0.02	0.09	[-0.15, 0.19]
$X \rightarrow M Model$				
Time spent reading	Transportation	0.15	0.03	[0.09, 0.21]
Time spent reading	spent reading Reading flow		0.03	[0.05, 0.18]
$X \& M \rightarrow Y Model$				
Time spent reading	Empathy	-0.12	0.06	[-0.25, -0.01]
Transportation	Empathy	0.09	0.08	[-0.07, 0.25]
Reading flow	Empathy	0.16	0.08	[0.01, 0.31]
Time spent reading	Emotion recognition	0.02	0.09	[-0.15, 0.19]
Transportation	Emotion recognition	-0.10	0.11	[-0.30, 0.12]
Reading flow	Emotion recognition	0.08	0.11	[-0.14, 0.27]

Mediational Testing of Transportation and Reading Flow as Mediators Between Time Spent Reading and Empathy and Emotion Recognition

Note. Standardized estimates are reported, controlling for gender, social desirability, and pretest empathy and emotion recognition scores. Bolded estimates are significant.

Lifelong Reading and Empathy

In subsequent analyses, all predictors were grand mean centered, except time spent reading between diaries since it is on an interpretable metric without centering. I also controlled for social desirability and gender in analyses relating to empathy, since they were correlated with empathy (see Table 2).

Several hypotheses concerned the relationship between lifelong reading and empathy and between lifelong reading and emotion recognition. I did not find support for Hypothesis 2, as lifelong reading did not moderate gains in empathy or emotion recognition (see Table 5), nor did follow-up analyses suggest lifelong reading and time spent reading interacted to influence components of empathy individually. In other words, time spent reading between diaries had the same, minimal effect on empathy, its individual components, and emotion recognition, regardless of how much lifelong reading a participant already had.

$r \cdots r \cdots r \cdots r$	0		
Outcome	Estimate	SD	95% CI
Empathy	0.01	0.11	[-0.20, 0.22]
Emotion recognition	-0.15	0.11	[-0.36, 0.08]
Affective responding	-0.08	0.11	[-0.31, 0.14]
Affective mentalizing	0.03	0.11	[-0.19, 0.24]
Perspective taking	0.08	0.11	[-0.14, 0.29]

Table 5Moderation Effect Between Time Spent Reading and Lifelong Readingon Empathy and Emotion Recognition

Note. Standardized estimates are reported. Estimates of empathy and its components were controlling for social desirability and gender.

I did not find support for Hypothesis 3 either. Time spent reading between diaries did not predict greater growth in the affective responding, affective mentalizing, or perspective taking components of empathy (see Table 6), nor did follow-up analyses suggest time spent reading between diaries predicted change in the emotion regulation or self-other awareness components of empathy. Time spent reading between diaries could have enhanced some components of empathy more than others, but present findings suggest it had little effect on any component of the construct.

Table 6							
Effect of Time Spent Reading on Different Components of Empathy							
Outcome	Estimate	SD	95% CI				
Affective responding	-0.05	0.07	[-0.14, 0.10]				
Affective mentalizing	-0.11	0.07	[-0.24, 0.03]				
Perspective taking	-0.06	0.06	[-0.23, 0.12]				
Emotion regulation	-0.06	0.07	[-0.19, 0.07]				
Self-other awareness	-0.08	0.07	[-0.16, 0.11]				

Note. Standardized estimates are reported, controlling for pretest scores, social desirability, and gender.

Comparison of Growth in Empathy between Groups

For Hypothesis 6, I expected the reading group would show greater gains in empathy and emotion recognition than the leisure group. Comparisons between groups at pretest and posttest are presented in Table 7. At the pretest, reading and leisure group participants had similar empathy scores, B = -0.02, SD = 0.07, 95% CI [-0.15, 0.12], and similar emotion recognition scores, B = 0.10, SD = 0.06, CI [-0.01, 0.22]. At the posttest, reading and leisure groups had similar empathy scores, B = -0.01, SD = 0.07, CI [-0.15, 0.13], but reading group participants had higher emotion recognition scores than leisure group participants, B = 0.16, SD = 0.06, CI [0.05, 0.27]. This difference held even after controlling for pretest emotion recognition scores, B =0.10, SD = 0.04, CI [0.04, 0.18]. Delving deeper, the difference between groups was not predicted by time spent reading between diaries; instead, it was predicted by lifelong reading (B = 0.18, SD = 0.07, CI [0.04, 0.32]). Taking lifelong reading into account, group membership was no longer a significant predictor (B = 0.10, SD = 0.06, CI [-0.02, 0.22]). It was surprising that lifelong reading predicted greater emotion recognition scores at posttest, but not at pretest. This could be due, at least partly, to a repeated testing effect, but it may also suggest that reading exercises and improves emotion recognition abilities, even if it does not enhance empathy.

Means (SD) for Empathy and Emotion Recognition Scores for Each Group							
	Reading Group	Leisure Group					
	M(SD)	M(SD)	Comparison				
Pretest							
Empathy	4.44 (0.56)	4.29 (0.60)	Similar				
Emotion recognition	27.1 (4.51)	26.0 (4.31)	Similar				
Posttest							
Empathy	4.46 (0.54)	4.33 (0.58)	Similar				
Emotion recognition	29.3 (4.79)	27.4 (4.95)	Reading higher				

Table 7Means (SD) for Empathy and Emotion Recognition Scores for Each Group

Note. Comparison column is a summary of how reading group participants compared to leisure group participants.

Qualitative Insights into How Reading Enhances Empathy

Though quantitative analyses did not suggest fiction reading exerted much effect on

facets of empathy (i.e., H3 & H6), qualitative responses to the question about whether

participants felt time spent reading impacted how they think about or interact with other people indicated otherwise. Though only some reading group participants (67 of 111) were asked this question, most of these respondents (72%) said time spent reading might have or did impact their empathy between a little and a moderate amount (M = 2.75, SD = 0.89, range = 1-5). In describing how their own empathy changed, the most common theme to emerge, which 8 respondents referenced, was that reading provided a way to gain greater understanding of others. One reader poignantly noted:

Particularly while reading The Bell Jar, I gave a lot of thought to mental health/suicide/ grief/loss and how that affects the people in my life. I had empathy for the character while also feeling a tinge of annoyance, which I felt was probably a pretty reasonable equivalent of how people often feel towards people in their lives who are going through hard things.

Another respondent noted, "I think that the more I read about others' experiences (even fictional characters) and the empathy and understanding I feel for them and their stories, the more that empathy and understanding translates to my real-world interactions with people," and another said, "I became more aware about people around me and their emotions and their thought process. Reading helps me learn more about others and myself."

A second theme to emerge, which 5 respondents referenced, was that reading provided greater insight into experiencing emotions. One participant noted, "The two stories I read both had a great deal of sadness in them...Most of the time, I only focus on positive emotions, so reading...made me more aware of "negative" emotions," and another said, "I feel that reading made me more cognizant of the nuances in emotions," accurately concluding that "I think I did better on the post-test than the pre-test in regards to the [emotion recognition] videos."

A third theme to emerge, which 5 respondents referenced, was that reading provided a form of social interaction during lockdown. For instance, one reader noted, "Most of the books I read were re-reads...on a re-read, I feel like I can gain greater insight into the characters," and another said, "I am very isolated due to COVID. Reading makes me at least feel a connection to others." Overall, qualitative data provide some support for the conclusion that reading can enhance facets of empathy.

Insights from these qualitative responses were also useful for providing some support for the theoretical expectations regarding how reading enhances empathy. For instance, the idea that reading serves as a form of social interaction suggests reading may act as a medium for mental simulation of social experiences (Mar & Oatley, 2008). One participant reported reading "5th grade interest" novels so they could build more engaging curricular materials for their students. Reading fifth grade material, this respondent reasoned, offered insight into how these students think and feel. There was also support for readers using imaginative engagement-contributing one's own thoughts and perspectives to the interpretation and understanding of stories (Barnes, 2018)—to better understand real-world others. For instance, one respondent noted, "If I have empathy for a character...and understand why a 'good' character would do a 'bad' thing, I can see real people in that way too." Finally, several participants reported that they were reading fiction as a means of better understanding other people. A respondent described how, "I am always looking for books that expand my worldview and let me step into the shoes of different kinds of people." This quotation suggests at least one participant sought out books that could spur accommodative thinking (Narvaez, 2002). Similarly, the respondent who described reading The Bell Jar, with its focus on mental health issues, noted the book helped instill in them a newfound way of thinking about and interacting with real-world others facing similar issues.

For comparison, I also asked leisure group participants to report on the extent to which their empathy changed. This was done to increase confidence that changes in empathy among reading group participants were more likely associated with reading rather than factors like being under lockdown. A majority (54%) of leisure group participants said their "outlook toward other people and others' perspectives" might have or did change over the past month between a little to a moderate amount (M = 2.74, SD = 0.83, range = 1-5). Their reasons for feeling this way were highly varied compared to reading group participants though. Some reported that they became more empathic. For instance, one respondent noted, "During the past month I have realized more that I have to take my own personal feelings out of assessments I make of others' feelings and just see them for [who] they are," and another wrote, "Just being around people more has made me realize I have to be more aware and tolerant." However, others reported that their empathy levels had dropped: "I am feeling more bitter towards others after being forced into a caregiving role," and another said, "I'm more annoyed and frustrated with people than I used to be." These responses suggest that the mechanisms underpinning changes in leisure group participants' empathy were not the same ones influencing reading group participants, and none reported that reading had an impact on them.

Donation Behavior and Empathy

Since donation was dichotomized, estimates here are reported in probit units—regression coefficients give the change in z-score of the outcome for a one unit change in the predictor. I did not find support for Hypothesis 7, as neither empathy (B = 0.16, SD = 0.09, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.33]) nor emotion recognition (B = 0.10, SD = 0.08, CI [-0.06, 0.26]) predicted whether participants would donate their compensation. Although not significant, empathy scores did have a marginally positive effect on donation behavior. Despite facets of empathy not predicting

donating, as a follow-up, I examined whether there were differences in donating at the group level. Reading group participants (coded 1) were more likely to donate their compensation than leisure group participants (coded 0), even controlling for empathy and emotion recognition, B =0.31, SD = 0.07, CI [0.18, 0.44]. Because of the differences at the group-level, I assessed whether empathy and emotion recognition scores predicted donating among reading group participants only. Still, neither empathy (B = 0.21, SD = 0.12, CI [-0.04, 0.42]) nor emotion recognition (B = 0.09, SD = 0.12, CI [-0.14, 0.31]) predicted donation behavior. In sum, reading group participants were more likely to donate their compensation, but the reason for this was not related to individuals' empathy or emotion recognition scores.

Empathy and Emotion Recognition

The answer to RQ1 (i.e., whether empathy was related to emotion recognition) is that empathy was not associated with emotion recognition at pretest or posttest (see Table 8). To follow-up, I examined whether the perspective taking or affective mentalizing components of empathy were uniquely associated with emotion recognition. This turned out not to be the case at either pretest or posttest. These results suggest there was a weak relationship between empathy and emotion recognition abilities. Pretest empathy scores explained 1.3% of the variance in pretest emotion recognition scores, and posttest empathy scores explained 0.9% of the variance in posttest emotion recognition scores. In sum, the relationship between the updated conceptualization of empathy (Segal et al., 2017) and objective emotion recognition abilities was weak, just as it has been found to be with other self-report empathy and emotion recognition measures (Israelashvili et al., 2019; Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019).

Table 8							
Components of Empathy Predicting Emotion Recognition							
Variable	Estimate	SD	95% CI				
Pretest							
Empathy	0.10	0.06	[-0.03, 0.21]				
Perspective taking	0.08	0.06	[-0.05, 0.20]				
Affective mentalizing	0.04	0.07	[-0.10, 0.16]				
Posttest							
Empathy	0.08	0.07	[-0.05, 0.20]				
Perspective taking	0.05	0.07	[-0.09, 0.18]				
Affective mentalizing	0.06	0.07	[-0.08, 0.19]				

Note. Standardized estimates are reported, controlling for social desirability and gender.

Supplemental Analyses

As noted, I collected data for supplemental analyses related to how COVID-related lockdowns impacted participants and a measure of empathic concern, to assess another facet of empathy. Among reading group participants, a majority (69%) reported that COVID-related lockdowns might have or did impact their responses between a moderate amount to a lot (M = 3.52, SD = 0.99, range = 2-5). In describing how lockdowns impacted participants' reading habits, two common themes emerged. They noted that (a) they had more time to read: "I have a lot more time to read (don't go out as much as I used to)," but some also noted (b) COVID-related stress in their life made it more difficult to focus on reading: "More mentally/emotionally tired, less inclined to pick up a book." There were similar responses among leisure group participants, with a majority (79%) saying lockdowns might have or did impact their leisure activities between a moderate amount to a lot (M = 3.47, SD = 0.93, range = 2-5). In describing how lockdowns might have or did impact their leisure activities between a moderate amount to a lot (M = 3.47, SD = 0.93, range = 2-5). In describing how lockdowns impacted their leisure activities, two themes emerged. Participants noted most frequently that (a) there were fewer activities to engage in: "Would really love to eat inside restaurants. It also really harmed a lot of friendships." Many also, understandably, noted (b) fear

of COVID made them limit their interactions with other people and their leisure activity choices: "I don't enjoy taking a walk as much because I'm constantly pulling up my mask and avoiding people on the sidewalk." In short, lockdowns impacted participants' reading and leisure activities in different ways. Reading group participants had more time to read, and leisure group participants had fewer activities to participate in.

Finally, there were also differences between groups related to empathic concern. Reading group participants reported greater empathic concern (M = 5.67, SD = 0.78) than leisure group participants (M = 5.28, SD = 0.93) at pretest (Group B = 0.19, SD = 0.06, 95% CI [0.07, 0.30]). They also reported higher scores (M = 5.65, SD = 0.73) than leisure group participants (M =5.29, SD = 0.91) at posttest (Group B = 0.18, SD = 0.06, CI [0.07, 0.29]), though there were no changes across time for either group. Among reading group participants, time spent reading was not associated with posttest empathic concern (B = 0.01, SD = 0.11, CI [-0.20, 0.22]) nor was lifelong reading (B = 0.04, SD = 0.07, CI [-0.10, 0.17]). Notably, though, empathic concern was positively predictive of donation behavior (probit B = 0.37, SD = 0.08, CI [0.21, 0.51]). Surprisingly, there was no association between empathic concern and social desirability (B =0.09, SD = 0.07, CI [-0.04, 0.21]), even though empathic concern was positively associated with empathy and empathy was positively associated with social desirability. As a convergent validity check, I assessed the relations between empathic concern, empathy, and emotion recognition. Results showed empathic concern was strongly associated with empathy but weakly associated with emotion recognition (see Table 9). In short, compared to leisure group participants, reading group participants reported greater empathic concern, and this predicted greater donation behavior; however, time spent reading did not predict donation behavior in either group. Moreover, results suggest that the different facets of empathy are related but distinct.

Table 9Zero-order Correlations Between Empathic Concern and Facetsof Empathy

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1 Pre-IRI						
2 Post-IRI	.79***					
3 Pre-EAI	.40***	.40***				
4 Post-EAI	.44***	.50***	.80***			
5 Pre-GERT	.05	.10	.12	.10		
6 Post-GERT	.14*	.11	.18**	.09	.68***	

Note. Pre- refers to pretest. Post- refers to posttest. IRI = Interpersonal Reactivity Index. EAI = Empathy Assessment Index. GERT = Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short. *p < .05. **p < .01. ***p < .001.
Chapter 4

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to better understand the mechanisms undergirding how reading enhances empathy. It was designed to address calls in the field for more rigorous and substantial studies of the relationship between fiction reading and empathy (Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018). To my knowledge, the study covered the longest time span (27 days) and collected the most measurements (9 diaries) of any published study on the topic. Though it has been established that reading *can* enhance empathy (Mumper & Gerrig, 2017), the question of *how* it does so is undeniably complex and not fully answered here. In this section, I summarize and highlight notable findings that emerged, and I explain how they connect to prior work, while unpacking their theoretical and practical implications. I conclude with limitations of this study and directions to move the field forward.

Summary of Findings

There was mixed support for the hypotheses in this study. For one, I did not find evidence that transportation or reading flow mediated the relationship between time spent reading between diaries and empathy or emotion recognition. Time spent reading did increase transportation and reading flow, but, over the course of the study, time spent reading had little effect on empathy, its individual components (e.g., perspective taking, affective mentalizing) or emotion recognition. As well, there was not a relationship between lifelong reading and empathy, although lifelong reading positively predicted reading group participants' emotion recognition abilities, a finding in line with past research (Mar et al., 2006, 2009; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017).

Other hypotheses proposed that facets of empathy would predict donation behavior. Results showed empathy had a marginal, positive influence on donation behavior, but emotion

recognition had little influence. In line with past research (Davis, 2015; FeldmanHall et al., 2015), empathic concern had the strongest influence on donation behavior of the three facets of empathy. As well, like with other self-report empathy measures (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019), there was a lack of a relationship between self-report empathy and objective emotion recognition. Finally, supplemental analyses suggested COVID-related lockdowns influenced participants' reading and leisure habits, but not so much that results cannot be generalized to participants' habits before lockdowns were instituted. These analyses also point to empathic concern as the most prominent difference between groups among the facets of empathy. This was surprising because I expected reading group participants to be higher on each of the facets of empathy compared to leisure group participants (e.g., Bal & Veltkamp, 2013; Djikic et al., 2013; Kidd & Castano, 2013). Still, even though there were group differences in empathic concern, these differences were not attributable to time spent reading or lifelong reading.

Inconclusive Evidence Regarding How Reading Enhances Empathy

Unexpectedly, findings were inconclusive regarding the central question of this dissertation: How does reading enhance empathy? There was little quantitative support for theoretical (Barnes, 2018; Mar & Oatley, 2008; Narvaez, 2002) and empirical (Bal & Veltkamp, 2013; Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Tamir et al., 2016) lines of research suggesting transportation and reading flow would partially mediate the relationship between time spent reading and empathy. This finding is particularly surprising given the high levels of reading reported during the study. Reading group participants reported reading, on average, for a total of 16.4 hours during the 27-day period (SD = 10 hrs, minimum = 0 min, maximum = 47.5 hrs). Their time spent reading was also spread across multiple books, as they reported reading each book, on average, for 5.5 hours (SD = 4.25 hours, minimum = 30 minutes, maximum = 35

hours). Overall, the lack of significant findings does not disconfirm the theories and empirical findings that guided this study, but they do warrant further explanation, which I offer below.

Reading and Theory of Mind

One possible explanation for the lack of findings could be that reading does not enhance empathy, as defined here (Cuff et al., 2016; Segal et al., 2017), but rather reading enhances theory of mind (ToM), or the recognition that others have their own internal thoughts and feelings (also called emotion recognition), instead. Indeed, findings from the present study suggest that lifelong reading predicted greater emotion recognition, which would be consistent with ToM (Mar, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017). Suggesting reading does not enhance empathy might seem counterintuitive, but confusion around empathy and ToM likely stems from the numerous ways scholars describe the way reading influences facets of empathy. Like the myriad measures used in this field, authors have used many terms to describe the relationship between reading and facets of empathy, including "empathy" (Burke et al., 2016; Johnson, 2012; Koopman, 2016), "theory of mind" (Kidd & Castano, 2013; van Kuijk et al., 2018), and "social cognition" (Black & Barnes, 2015; Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mar, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017). Careful examination reveals scholars (Black & Barnes, 2015; Kidd & Castano, 2019; Mar, 2018; Mar et al., 2006; Panero et al., 2016; van Kuijk et al., 2018) often use ToM, social cognition, and emotion recognition interchangably-a problematic practice (e.g., Burke et al., 2016)—but present results suggest, to choose one, ToM should be the preferred term over the term "empathy" when describing how reading enhances facets of empathy.

Another reason to believe that fiction reading might enhance ToM more than empathy has to do with the complex nature of empathy and the comparatively more straightforward nature of ToM. ToM is a simpler skill than empathy. It does not necessarily draw on the same cognitive

and affective skills required to fully evoke empathy (Decety, 2011). ToM requires individuals to recognize that others have a point of view and their own emotions, and the present study found that lifelong reading was positively associated with scores on the Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short (Schlegel et al., 2016), which is conceptually a measure of affective theory of mind (Walter, 2012). This test requires respondents to decipher emotional cues without the need to consider contextual or interpersonal cues. Empathy, however, requires individuals to engage in high level cognitive and affective processing (e.g., perspective taking, affective mentalizing; Decety, 2005), which can be mentally challenging (Eyal et al., 2018; Cameron et al., 2019). Empathy requires not only recognizing that others have a point of view and emotions (e.g., I see that a person is sad), but also sharing and understanding the other person's perspective (e.g., I share my friend's sadness because I know what it is like to have my feelings hurt by someone I care for). Stories often, though not always (e.g., Barnes, 2018), provide the contextual and interpersonal cues required to understand characters' emotions and reactions, so reading may not exercise the full breadth of abilities underlying empathy, at least not to the same extent that it exercises ToM abilities.

Further support for suggesting reading enhances ToM comes from the reading comprehension literature. ToM is regarded as an essential underlying ability in many theories of reading comprehension (Atkinson et al., 2017; Dore et al., 2018; Paris & Paris, 2003). Studies of reading have found readers generate mental images of characters (Speer et al., 2009), track emotionally laden storylines (Altmann et al., 2012; Mouw et al., 2019), and connect with diverse characters (Mar et al., 2006; Tamir et al., 2016), all of which require the ability to recognize others have their own internal thoughts and feelings. Other studies suggest reading comprehension is not possible without at least rudimentary ToM abilities (Neuman et al., 2014).

Present findings and theoretical insights from reading comprehension literature point to an inextricable link between reading and ToM that serves to strengthen the conclusion that reading enhances ToM, specifically, more than it enhances empathy.

Different Measures of Facets of Empathy

Another explanation for the lack of a relationship between reading and empathy may have to do with the measures I employed in the present study. I used the Empathy Assessment Index (Segal et al., 2017) to measure empathy, the Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short (GERT-S; Schlegel & Scherer, 2016) to measure ToM, and the most up to date version of the Author Recognition Test (Moore & Gordon, 2015) to measure lifelong reading. I chose these measures because they have more sound psychometric properties than measures used in previous studies.

It is possible measures used in past studies have resulted in spurious associations between time spent reading and empathy. Past studies (e.g., Oliver et al., 2012) have used relatively simplistic measures of empathy, focusing on only one or two components of empathy (e.g., empathic concern or perspective taking, as measured by the Interpersonal Reactivity Index; Dodell-Feder & Tamir, 2018; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017) and labeling it as "empathy." However, these measures are often too narrow in scope (e.g., focusing on shared emotions; Jordan et al., 2016) to validly assess empathy or conflate constructs related to but distinct from empathy (e.g., sympathy, compassion; Johnson, 2013). It is possible the conceptual narrowness of these measures made it easier to detect relationships that were not observed in the present study. Studies have also used different ToM measures like the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test (RMET; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001) or the Diagnostic Analysis of Nonverbal Accuracy (DANVA; Booth et al., 2019; Nowicki & Carton, 1993), both of which require one to recognize

emotions from static photos of faces. These measures are limited by their simplistic nature (i.e., static photo; Schlegel et al., 2014) and strong association with intelligence (Baker et al., 2014) rather than emotion recognition ability (Black, 2019; Oakley et al., 2016). Because of this, past studies might have been more clearly detecting a relationship between reading and intelligence, which are strongly, positively associated (Peng et al., 2019), rather than between reading and ToM. Further, studies (Kidd & Castano, 2013, 2019; van Kuijk et al., 2018) have used older versions of the Author Recognition Test (ART; Acheson et al., 2008; West et al., 1993), but there is a need to continually update the ART to reflect readers' preferences and cultural shifts among readers (Moore & Gordon, 2015). Overall, these older measures still have a degree of validity (Acheson et al., 2008; Booth et al., 2019), but pressing issues like measurement validity of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Chrysikou & Thompson, 2016) and the need to synchronize measures used in this field (Burke et al., 2016) substantiate recommendations to use the newer and more psychometrically sound measures.

Using different measures of facets of empathy also highlights the potential explanation that self-report measures of empathy are less likely to detect change associated with time spent reading compared to objective ToM measures. This conclusion is supported by finding that empathy scores were positively associated with socially desirable responding. Participants may have inflated their self-perceived empathy skills, as past research has shown (Israelashvili et al., 2019), but present results show this problem can be attenuated by using objective measures. Though present results do not support research showing time spent reading can enhance selfreported empathy (Bal & Veltkamp, 2013; Johnson et al., 2013), those studies did not account for socially desirability and its potential impact on participants' responses, which lowers the confidence those findings could be replicated. On the contrary, present results do support

research showing time spent reading can enhance ToM abilities (Black & Barnes, 2015; Kidd & Castano, 2013). Finding lifelong reading was positively associated with the GERT-S, which has enhanced ecological validity over measures like the RMET or DANVA (Schlegel & Scherer, 2016), not only highlights the potential importance of using objective ToM measures to assess the impact of time spent reading on facets of empathy but increases the confidence that reading enhances ToM abilities.

In sum, the myriad measures used by researchers in this field perpetuate difficulties with comparing results across studies (Valkenburg, 2015) and determining whether researchers are assessing the same concepts in their investigations (Burke et al., 2016). The lack of agreement about the most appropriate measures of the facets of empathy is not unique to reading studies (Batson, 2009), but findings do suggest that use of up to date measures likely produces different results than older measures. Determing why these differences were observed (e.g., reading did not influence empathic concern; Bal & Veltkamp, 2013) will require replication with these newer measures.

Developmental Effects on Reading and Empathy

Developmental insights also highlight potential explanations for the lack of a relationship between reading and empathy specifically. The study sample consisted of adult readers. I included adults because I expected they were the most likely to infer social information from stories (Altmann et al., 2012; Mouw et al., 2019; Narvaez et al., 2010), and I expected them to have more well-developed cognitive and affective abilities (Hay & Diehl, 2011; Labouvie-Vief, 2015) than child or adolescent readers. These factors were expected to facilitate the growth of adult readers' empathy through reading fiction. Adults' well-developed inferential and cognitive and affective abilities contribute to adults reading more varied stories than younger readers

(Botzakis, 2009; Schutte & Malouff, 2007) that bring them into simulated contact with a wide range of social experiences (Hakemulder, 2000; Willems & Jacobs, 2016). Indeed, readers in this study reported reading approximately 386 books (with some overlap among titles), including classics like *The Brothers Karamzov* by Fyodor Dostoyevsky and newer ones like *The Underground Railroad* by Colson Whitehead. However, it is possible the books they chose to read served to reinforce social schemas they already had firmly in place (e.g., slavery is bad; Labouvie-Vief, 2015) rather than spur accommodative thinking (Narvaez, 2002). This is because with increasing age social schemas become more firmly established (Narvaez, 2005), and reading stories, even profound classics like *The Brothers Karamzov* or Orwell's *1984*, might only contribute incrementally to changing social schemas.

Another developmental insight that could help explain why time spent reading did not influence empathy takes into account the relatively brief duration of the study. Avid adult readers' lifelong reading likely spans years and potentially hundreds of books. Reading up to five books in one month's time then, by comparison, is likely to have a much smaller effect, pointing to the possibility that the influence of reading on empathy and ToM attenuates with age. Participants' free responses about how reading influenced their levels of empathy also support this reasoning. One noted, "I read a lot, all the time, so not sure this period made much difference," and another stated, "reading . . . in the last month was [not] any more impactful than an average month, [but] I do hope that by continuously reading and gaining new perspective, I'm able to become more empathetic and interact more positively with others." The choice to complete diary surveys across one month's time seemed reasonable at the outset of this study, as only one other study has come close to investigating reading across this length of time (Pino & Mazza, 2016). However, in the end, it seems a month may have been too short a period to capture significant changes in any facet of empathy, at least among adults. A longitudinal study that follows adults over years might be better suited to capturing changes in empathy or ToM that result from reading fiction.

Participants' Perspectives on Their Changing Empathy

The qualitative responses offer some insight into the impact of reading on facets of empathy. For example, participants' responses provided limited but clear support for the theoretical expectations guiding this investigation. Reading seemed to have a unique influence on readers' empathy that was not mirrored in leisure group participants' descriptions of changes in their empathy. As well, the richness of respondents' descriptions regarding how reading impacted their thinking about and understanding of others suggests reading can shape facets of empathy, even if this impact is limited to a few readers. That is, most themes that emerged were based on responses from eight respondents or fewer. Still, finding that these experiences were limited to a few readers aligns with the Different Susceptibility to Media Effects Theory predictions (Valkenburg & Peter, 2013), in highlighting the uniqueness of individuals' reading experiences. The uniqueness of readers' experiences also helps explain why the qualitative analyses showed support for the theoretical expectations guiding this study and seemingly contradict the quantitative findings—on average, readers did not experience changes in empathy during the study; however, some did, and this nuance was captured in the qualitative analyses because they allowed for examining participants' unique perspectives. Also of note, no respondents mentioned how reading impacted their emotion regulation or self-other awareness fundamental components of empathy—which could help explain why reading did not enhance empathy, as conceptualized here.

Reading, Empathy, and Donating

Another unexpected finding from this study was the lack of a relationship between reading and prosocial behavior (i.e., donating). I expected this study would provide empirical evidence supporting long-held beliefs about how reading functions as a moral laboratory (Hakemulder, 2000) and influences prosocial behavior (Keen, 2007; Vitz, 1990), but it did not. Neither time reading nor lifelong reading predicted donation behavior. This finding fails to support past research (Johnson, 2012; Koopman, 2015). One reason for this could be related to the story content. Studies that have found links between reading and prosocial behavior tend to feature morally elevating stories with prosocial themes (Aquino et al., 2011; Coyne et al., 2018; Freeman et al., 2009; Johnson, 2012). This study left the decision of what to read up to participants, to assess readers' everyday reading material. As a result, it is possible, even likely, that few readers read stories with this kind of content (Willems & Jacobs, 2016). Another reason could be because reading primarily enhances ToM, and ToM (emotion recognition) had the weakest association with donation behavior of any facet of empathy.

The lack of a relationship between reading and donating could also be attributable to the costly nature of the donation behavior (e.g., FeldmanHall et al., 2015). Participants were not aware they would have the option to donate until the end of the posttest. This was partly to avoid moral licensing effects (Blanken et al., 2015). I did not want participants to be aware of the donation option beforehand and decide to engage in other prosocial activities in lieu of donating. Instructions at the end of posttest read as follows: "Based on number of surveys you completed (X), you will be receiving \$(X) in compensation. If you would like, you may donate some or all of your compensation to a book-related charity (Book Aid International). I will make the donation on your behalf, and you will receive any amount you choose not to donate." These

instructions were followed by a blank text box, which allowed participants to indicate how much they wanted to donate. There was no imperative to donate, but roughly half (49%) of participants did, with most who donated (65%) giving all their compensation to charity. Individual donations ranged from \$0.50 to \$10.50, and participants donated \$703.50 in total. This represented a real sacrifice from participants in that many responded to approximately 11 surveys (in total) across one month's time without accepting any compensation.

Although reading did not predict donation behavior, empathic concern and empathy, to a small degree, did. This is in line with much research highlighting positive outcomes associated with empathy (Davis et al., 1999; Freeman et al., 2009; Van der Graaff et al., 2018). One surprising aspect of these findings is that reading group participants consistently had greater empathic concern than leisure group participants, but empathic concern was not predicted by time spent reading in either group or participants' background characteristics (i.e., age, gender, education, ethnicity; *B* estimates ranged from -0.05-0.12, *SD* ranged from 0.05-0.07). In light of this, it is unclear why empathic concern differed between the groups. Still, in sum, results support the positive impact of empathy on prosocial behavior but do not provide evidence for a link between reading and prosocial behaviors.

Complex Relations Between Facets of Empathy

Findings also highlight the complex relations between different facets of empathy. In this way, they support the continued need to incorporate multiple measures of facets of empathy (i.e., empathy, empathic concern, ToM) into investigations of how reading enhances empathy or ToM. It was reasonable at the outset of this study to expect reading would exert different effects on unique facets of empathy (e.g., empathy, emotion recognition; Black & Barnes, 2015; Kidd & Castano, 2013; Koopman, 2016), as the facets are inextricably related (Segal et al., 2017; Walter,

2012). However, results make clear that different facets of empathy contribute to empathic feelings and outcomes in different ways. For example, empathy and empathic concern were positively correlated (see Table 9), but empathic concern predicted donating behavior more strongly than empathy. This makes sense as empathic concern is a response evoked by feeling empathy first and then feeling concern for others (Batson et al., 2015). Indeed, some people purposefully attenuate empathic feelings to avoid the ensuing guilt associated with not acting on empathic concern (Cameron & Payne, 2011; Hoffman, 2008). The present results add to the growing body of evidence suggesting empathic concern differs from empathy (Cuff et al., 2016; Segal et al., 2017), and, therefore, it should not be used as a proxy for empathy, as it has been in some studies (e.g., Bal & Veltkamp, 2013; Djikic et al., 2013; Koopman, 2016). Overall, these findings support the need for researchers to use clearly defined terms and measures for describing the facets of empathy they are investigating and explaining how reading influences those facets (Burke et al., 2016).

Another example of the complex relations among facets of empathy stems from the finding that empathy and empathic concern were not associated with objective measures of ToM (emotion recognition). It was an open question as to whether the Empathy Assessment Index (Segal et al., 2017) would be associated with ToM when other empathy measures, like the Interpersonal Reactivity Index, have not been (Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019). These results help move the field of empathy studies forward by providing more support for the distinction between objective ToM and self-report empathy. Present data do not explain why objective ToM diverged from other facets of empathy, but research suggests people overestimate their empathic skills (Israelashvili et al., 2019). Findings also suggest socially desirable responding may have inflated participants' empathy scores (see Table 2). I expected social desirability would pose a threat to

candid responding and tried to attenuate it by not referring to "empathy" in the survey, but this may not have been enough to wholly eliminate the issue. More candid responding might reveal a stronger connection between empathy and ToM. Still, though the effects of socially desirable responding appear to have been appreciable, findings are in line with past research (Israelashvili et al., 2019; Murphy & Lilienfeld, 2019), suggesting current results are a good approximation of the relationship between empathy and objective ToM. Further, finding that socially desirable responding influenced empathy scores, even in a survey designed to attenuate such responding, suggests social desirability should be taken into account in future studies of empathy.

Impacts of COVID on Participants' Behavior

COVID-related lockdowns undoubtedly impacted all participants' lives in some way (Mata et al., 2021), but I did not expect lockdowns to have much impact on participants' reading behavior. Based on how they described the impact of lockdowns in their lives, it does not appear to have done so. For instance, reading group participants generally had more time to read. Some turned to reading as an escape, a cheap and effective form of entertainment, and though some noted how the emotional toll of the pandemic discouraged them from reading, they still spent time reading. The avid readers in this sample dedicated time to reading before lockdown, and many of them continued reading during the lockdown. Notably, dedicating time to one's hobbies like this appears to have been a successful strategy for many to deal with COVID stressors (Fullana et al., 2020), further supporting expectations that readers continued reading during lockdown. Likewise, leisure group participants reported having fewer activities available to them, but they still sought out leisure activities. It is possible the study procedure even had a positive impact on their well-being, by bringing leisure time into focus for them. This is because leisure time was a strong, positive predictor of resilience during lockdown (Killgore et al., 2020).

Applications

There are a few useful insights from this study that could be applied in real-world settings. First, the findings support expectations that the effects of reading on empathy are slow to build (Djikic et al., 2013; Mumper & Gerrig, 2017). One does not simply pick up a book, read 300 pages, and become a more empathic person. That is, reading cannot be considered a magic bullet for improving society, even if the diversity of social learning experiences that can be found in the pages of books seem promising for contributing to a more empathic and moral society (Hakemulder, 2000; Willems & Jacobs, 2016; Wolk, 2009).

Another practical application of this study is the likely need to update the Author Recognition Test. The most recent update was six years ago now (Moore & Gordon, 2015), and Moore and Gordon noted the measure needs to be updated roughly every 10 years to remain current with readers' changing preferences and cultural shifts. In support of this, reading is likely similar to other forms of media use in that it is becoming more individualized (Valkenburg et al., 2021), and though no single measure can fully capture individuals' lifelong reading, the Author Recognition Test is a creative and useful measure for approximating it that can continue being useful in future studies. Still, any updates to the Author Recognition Test will need to undergo rigorous item response theory analysis to make sure it discriminates well between avid and less avid lifelong readers, as the latest iteration did (Moore & Gordon, 2015).

Limitations

Three notable limitations temper the interpretation of present findings. One limitation concerns the composition of the two samples in this study. Neither sample was randomly drawn from a larger population. Leisure group participants seem reasonably typical of many WEIRD samples—well-educated, young adults, largely White (Cheon et al., 2020)—and they were

different from reading group participants in ways I intended in this study (e.g., lower lifelong reading, everyday reading). However, reading group participants are likely not representative of populations other than book club members (Sedo, 2003). They were very highly educated, mostly female, and mostly White. This was not a significant issue, as the study was largely exploratory in nature, but these considerations make clear that the study's findings are limited in their generalizability. Moreover, I tried to recruit a diverse population of participants. I reached out to internet book club leaders on sites such as Meetup, Goodreads, Facebook, Reddit, and Discord, but no group moderators responded to me. I reached out to local librarians for permission to post recruitment flyers, but I was not granted permission. Also, I reached out to more than a dozen college literature professors, but only three agreed to share my study with their students. In sum, group composition is a limitation, but it is one common to many psychology studies (Cheon et al., 2020), and it is quite difficult to overcome.

Another notable limitation concerns the degree of measurement reactivity. Measurement reactivity poses a threat to validity in diary studies because it introduces unexplainable random error. That is, if participants stop responding during a study, it is typically impossible to know why (Barta et al., 2012). As an example, did they get bored with the study? Did they encounter an adverse life event? Measurement reactivity was apparent in this study because the assumption of stationarity was violated (McNeish & Hamaker, 2020); that is, amount of time reading slightly decreased across the study but feelings of transportation and reading flow increased. This is possibly due to highly motivated readers continuing to report more about their time spent reading across the study compared to less motivated readers. Some participants continued reporting about new books they began reading during the study period, making notes about reading a new book in their diary free response. Still, other participants chose to quit responding about books in

the survey after finishing those books, with several participants reporting that once they completed a book, they stopped responding to questions about that book. The unintentional pressure to read that some participants felt might have motivated them to finish the books they listed quickly, reading to be able to "say something" in their diary surveys, so then they could stop responding about time spent reading those books. Indeed, some participants seemed to enjoy the external pressure from the study, "it motivated me to keep reading the books I set out to read!", but others disliked it, "I was aware I was reading to do this survey. Which sometimes made it feel like a chore." Overall, this limitation suggests the frequency of reading in this study may have been biased upward, both by sampling avid readers and measurement reactivity, even if time spent reading did slightly decrease across the 27-day period.

The third notable limitation concerns statistical power. I did not obtain my desired sample size based on a priori power analysis (N = 160 vs. actual N = 111). However, I believed N = 100 would be sufficient based on simulation power studies using MSEM (Preacher et al., 2011) and taking into account the advantages of Bayesian estimation (Miočević et al., 2017). In light of these caveats, it is unclear to what degree this study was underpowered. The diary response rate was high (95%), but, because of the semi-continuous nature of reading, there were fewer relevant responses (i.e., reports about time participants spent reading) than expected. This issue was beyond my control; participants either did or did not read between diaries. I tried to maximize the likelihood they would by implementing a criterion sampling approach (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), but it is possible the criteria (e.g., self-described avid reader) were not rigorous enough. Ideally, every participant would have reported about a minimum of five reading responses (Preacher et al., 2011), but 21 of them reported four or fewer reading responses, including one participant who reported zero reading responses. I retained this participant's data because they

were an English literature student who noted in every diary that they were reading for class (primarily Shakespeare) rather than their self-selected books from the pretest.

Finally, a relatively minor limitation concerns a technological issue at the beginning of the study, specifically, survey emails going to spam. Several participants reported it required too much effort to constantly check their spam for diary surveys, and they asked me to stop sending them reminders. I estimate around 100 participants did not even begin the pretest, based on the number of responses to the interest survey, because they never opened the pretest email and did not search for it in their spam folders. This behavior, of course, is understandable. Participants had better response rates after I resolved the spam issues, which took approximately 20 days. I tried many avenues to solve the spam issue, with CGU IT finally providing a solution. I might have had more statistical power or a more diverse sample had I not had these technological issues, but many participants made clear they would not rejoin the study, even after I recontacted them to say I had resolved the issue.

Future Directions

Findings from this study point to several future study directions. One useful future direction would be to refine the survey design and make it more flexible, particularly regarding participants' book titles. Participants collectively finished reading more than 100 books over the course of this study, and many began reading and reporting on new books after they finished the five they proposed to read in their pretest. I only became aware of this because of the free response comments in the diary responses. I was unable to capture the fluidity of changing reading preferences, but this could be a focus of future research. To be clear, I did not capture this fluidity because (a) I did not expect it, and (b) the survey design precluded it. Book titles were piped into subsequent surveys as "embedded data" that could not be changed once an

action was triggered. Actions were triggered after completing the pretest, as using automated actions was the only way to ensure all participants received surveys on the correct days and times. Future studies could recruit more "survey stewards" (i.e., researchers to track participants choices and responses) and take a more flexible approach to changing embedded data between survey responses (e.g., adding new book titles, removing completed books). This recommendation is informed by participants' descriptions of their experiences in the study. Participants frequently noted they wanted to change the book titles during the study. They commented on this because some did not finish a particular book, noting, "This book is boring but I managed to get a solid session in...not sure I'll continue." Others picked up new books not mentioned in their original five from the pretest, saying they changed books "because my mood changed," and another aptly noted they "never follow a rational pattern when choosing what to read." A research team of "survey stewards" could reduce response burden by allowing flexibility of diary delivery times and updating book titles to reflect readers' fluid choices throughout the study (Gunthert & Wenze, 2012). This, in turn, could facilitate greater engagement with diary surveys and allow for a longer study time frame since surveys would be updated to reflect participants' changing reading choices.

Another future direction would be to implement a similar study but with different preferably younger—participants. There are some reasons to expect reading enhances empathy among adolescents in similar ways as it does among adults (Decety et al., 2012; Mouw et al., 2019; Valkenburg & Piotrowski, 2017). Since this study sample consisted of adults, it does not suggest anything specific about adolescents' reading and empathy. However, reading could change adolescents' empathy at a faster pace compared to adults because adolescents have a lesser amount of lifelong reading, and their social schemas are more fluid than adults'

(Labouvie-Vief, 2015). There have been several semester-long studies of reading habits among adolescents in English Language Arts (ELA) classes (Cuevas et al., 2012; Ivey & Johnston, 2013; Smit, 2016), suggesting the ELA context could be a useful one for studying how reading influences empathy among adolescents. One potential way to increase the informativeness and reduce students' response burden would be to have participants complete diaries weekly and over a longer period (i.e., nine weeks) than the current study. Given the possibility for social schemas to become firmer in adulthood and for reading to spur less accommodation in social cognition, adolescent ELA classes may be a particularly valuable context for investigating how reading enhances empathy.

Finally, another future direction could be incorporating a small manipulation into a similarly designed study. For instance, researchers could collaborate with literature professors to select books that seem particularly likely to influence readers' empathy and assign half of the self-described avid readers to incorporate assigned books into their otherwise self-selected reading lists, and the other half to read solely self-selected books. The design could include focus groups or interviews afterward to assess what about the content of the books, if anything, influenced participants' empathy or social cognition, and what participants liked (or disliked) about the assigned books, and how self-selected books compared to assigned books. Assigning some readers books and comparing outcomes with readers who focus only on self-selected books could help researchers home in on factors specific to either books or individuals that have the greatest effect on enhancing empathy.

Conclusion

How does reading enhance empathy? In short, it is complicated. It is possible that reading may not enhance empathy, at least as empathy is conceptualized in the current study. Instead, it

may be the case that reading enhances ToM, one facet of empathy. Even so, the effects of reading on ToM are likely slow to build, particularly among a sample of avid, adult readers. Transportation and reading flow, considered the most likely mediators of reading and facets of empathy, had little effect on this relationship. Results do not rule out transportation and reading flow as mediators, but they do suggest the time scale assessed here was too short to understand how reading enhances empathy or even ToM. As well, results paint a complex portrait of the facets of empathy, and more work needs to be done to tease apart how different facets of empathy relate to each other. Reading is not a perfect vehicle for enhancing empathy, or even ToM, but it likely does have utility for improving the way people interact with and understand others (Hakemulder, 2000; Vitz, 1990); however, scholars should be careful not to overstate its utility.

References

- Acheson, D. J., Wells, J. B., & MacDonald, M. C. (2008). New and updated tests of print exposure and reading abilities in college students. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(1), 278– 289. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.1.278
- Allemand, M., Steiger, A. E., & Fend, H. A. (2015). Empathy development in adolescence predicts social competencies in adulthood. *Journal of Personality*, 83(2), 229–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12098
- Allott, M. (1961). George Eliot in the 1860's. *Victorian Studies*, 5(2), 93–108. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3825419
- Altmann, U., Bohrn, I. C., Lubrich, O., Menninghaus, W., & Jacobs, A. M. (2012). The power of emotional valence—from cognitive to affective processes in reading. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, Article 192. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2012.00192
- Appel, M., Gnambs, T., Richter, T., & Green, M. C. (2015). The Transportation Scale–Short Form (TS–SF). *Media Psychology*, 18(2), 243–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2014.987400
- Aquino, K., McFerran, B., & Laven, M. (2011). Moral identity and the experience of moral elevation in response to acts of uncommon goodness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *100*(4), 703–718. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022540
- Aronson, K. M., Callahan, B. D., & O'Brien, A. S. (2018). Messages matter: Investigating the thematic content of picture books portraying underrepresented racial and cultural groups. *Sociological Forum*, 33(1), 165–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/socf.12404
- Atkinson, L., Slade, L., Powell, D., & Levy, J. P. (2017). Theory of mind in emerging reading comprehension: A longitudinal study of early indirect and direct effects. *Journal of*

Experimental Child Psychology, 164, 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2017.04.007

- Bailey, P. E., Brady, B., Ebner, N. C., & Ruffman, T. (2018). Effects of age on emotion regulation, emotional empathy, and prosocial behavior. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 75(4), 802–810. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby084
- Baker, C. A., Peterson, E., Pulos, S., & Kirkland, R. A. (2014). Eyes and IQ: A meta-analysis of the relationship between intelligence and "Reading the Mind in the Eyes." *Intelligence*, 44(1), 78–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2014.03.001
- Bal, P. M., & Veltkamp, M. (2013). How does fiction reading influence empathy? An experimental investigation on the role of emotional transportation. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1), Article e55341. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055341
- Bandura, A. (2009). Social cognitive theory of mass communication. In J. Bryant & M. B. Oliver (Eds.), *Media Effects: Advances in theory and research* (3rd ed., pp. 94–124). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203877111-12
- Barnes, J. L. (2015). Fanfiction as imaginary play: What fan-written stories can tell us about the cognitive science of fiction. *Poetics*, 48, 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2014.12.004
- Barnes, J. L. (2018). Imaginary engagement, real-world effects: Fiction, emotion, and social cognition. *Review of General Psychology*, 22(2), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000124
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" Test Revised Version: A study with normal adults, and adults with asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 42(2), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021963001006643

Barta, W. D., Tennen, H., & Litt, M. D. (2012). Measurement reactivity in diary research. In M.

R. Mehl & T. S. Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 108–123). Guilford.

- Batson, C. D. (2009). These things called empathy: Eight related but distinct phenomena. In J.Decety & W. Ickes (Eds.), *The social neuroscience of empathy* (pp. 3–15). MIT Press.
- Batson, C. D., Lishner, D. A., & Stocks, E. L. (2015). The Empathy–altruism Hypothesis. In D.
 A. Schroeder & W. G. Graziano (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of prosocial behavior* (pp. 259–281). Oxford University Press.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399813.013.023
- Batt-Rawden, S. A., Chisolm, M. S., Anton, B., & Flickinger, T. E. (2013). Teaching empathy to medical students. *Academic Medicine*, 88(8), 1171–1177. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0b013e318299f3e3
- Beadle, J. N., & de la Vega, C. E. (2019). Impact of aging on empathy: Review of psychological and neural mechanisms. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, Article 331. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00331
- Beadle, J. N., Sheehan, A. H., Dahlben, B., & Gutchess, A. H. (2015). Aging, empathy, and prosociality. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 70(2), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbt091
- Beck, L., Kumschick, I. R., Eid, M., & Klann-Delius, G. (2012). Relationship between language competence and emotional competence in middle childhood. *Emotion*, 12(3), 503–514. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026320
- Black, J. E. (2019). An IRT analysis of the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *101*(4), 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1447946

Black, J. E., & Barnes, J. L. (2015). The effects of reading material on social and non-social

cognition. Poetics, 52, 32-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2015.07.001

- Blakemore, S.-J., & Choudhury, S. (2006). Development of the adolescent brain: Implications for executive function and social cognition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3–4), 296–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01611.x
- Blanken, I., van de Ven, N., & Zeelenberg, M. (2015). A meta-analytic review of moral licensing. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 41(4), 540–558. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215572134
- Bluck, S., Baron, J. M., Ainsworth, S. A., Gesselman, A. N., & Gold, K. L. (2013). Eliciting empathy for adults in chronic pain through autobiographical memory sharing. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 27(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2875
- Booth, A. J., Rodgers, J. D., Volker, M. A., Lopata, C., & Thomeer, M. L. (2019). Psychometric characteristics of the DANVA-2 in high-functioning children with ASD. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 49(10), 4147–4158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04130-w
- Botzakis, S. (2009). Adult fans of comic books: What they get out of reading. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 53(1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1598/JAAL.53.1.5
- Bruner, J. (1991). The narrative construction of reality. *Critical Inquiry*, *18*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1086/448619
- Burke, M., Kuzmicova, A., Mangen, A., & Schilhab, T. (2016). Empathy at the confluence of neuroscience and empirical literary studies. *Scientific Study of Literature*, 6(1), 6–41. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.6.1.03bur
- Cameron, C. D. (2018). Motivating empathy: Three methodological recommendations for mapping empathy. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *12*(11), Article e12418.

https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12418

- Cameron, C. D., Hutcherson, C. A., Ferguson, A. M., Scheffer, J. A., Hadjiandreou, E., & Inzlicht, M. (2019). Empathy is hard work: People choose to avoid empathy because of its cognitive costs. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 148(6), 962–976. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000595
- Cameron, C. D., & Payne, B. K. (2011). Escaping affect: How motivated emotion regulation creates insensitivity to mass suffering. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *100*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021643
- Card, N. A. (2012). Multilevel mediation analysis in the study of daily lives. In M. R. Mehl & T.S. Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 479–494).Guilford.
- Carpenter, J. M., & Green, M. C. (2012). Flying with Icarus: Narrative transportation and persuasiveness of entertainment. In L. J. Shrum (Ed.), *The psychology of entertainment media: Blurring the lines between entertainment and persuasion* (2nd ed., pp. 169–194).
 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203828588
- Chandler, J., Mueller, P., & Paolacci, G. (2014). Nonnaïveté among Amazon Mechanical Turk workers: Consequences and solutions for behavioral researchers. *Behavior Research Methods*, 46(1), 112–130. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-013-0365-7
- Cheng, Y., Chen, C., & Decety, J. (2014). An EEG/ERP investigation of the development of empathy in early and middle childhood. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 10, 160– 169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.08.012
- Cheon, B. K., Melani, I., & Hong, Y. (2020). How USA-centric is psychology? An archival study of implicit assumptions of generalizability of findings to human nature based on

origins of study samples. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *11*(7), 928–937. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550620927269

- Chmielewski, M., & Kucker, S. C. (2020). An MTurk crisis? Shifts in data quality and the impact on study results. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 11(4), 464–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619875149
- Christ, O., Hewstone, M., Schmid, K., Green, E. G. T., Sarrasin, O., Gollwitzer, M., & Wagner, U. (2017). Advanced multilevel modeling for a science of groups: A short primer on multilevel structural equation modeling. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 21(3), 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1037/gdn0000065
- Chrysikou, E. G., & Thompson, W. J. (2016). Assessing cognitive and affective empathy through the Interpersonal Reactivity Index: An argument against a two-factor model. *Assessment*, 23(6), 769–777. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191115599055
- Cohen, E. L., & Hoffner, C. (2013). Gifts of giving: The role of empathy and perceived benefits to others and self in young adults' decisions to become organ donors. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(1), 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105311433910
- Coll, M.-P., Viding, E., Rütgen, M., Silani, G., Lamm, C., Catmur, C., & Bird, G. (2017). Are we really measuring empathy? Proposal for a new measurement framework. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 83, 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.10.009
- Coplan, A. (2011). Understanding empathy: Its features and effects. In A. Coplan & P. Goldie (Eds.), *Empathy: Philosophical and psychological perspectives* (pp. 2–18). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199539956.003.0002
- Coyne, S. M., Padilla-Walker, L. M., Holmgren, H. G., Davis, E. J., Collier, K. M., Memmott-Elison, M. K., & Hawkins, A. J. (2018). A meta-analysis of prosocial media on prosocial

behavior, aggression, and empathic concern: A multidimensional approach. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(2), 331–347. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000412

Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage.

Cuevas, J. A., Russell, R. L., & Irving, M. A. (2012). An examination of the effect of customized reading modules on diverse secondary students' reading comprehension and motivation. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 60(3), 445–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-012-9244-7

Cuff, B. M. P., Brown, S. J., Taylor, L., & Howat, D. J. (2016). Empathy: A review of the concept. *Emotion Review*, 8(2), 144–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073914558466

Davidov, M., Zahn-Waxler, C., Roth-Hanania, R., & Knafo, A. (2013). Concern for others in the first year of life: Theory, evidence, and avenues for research. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(2), 126–131. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12028

- Davis, M. H. (1983). Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44(1), 113–126. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.113
- Davis, M. H. (2015). Empathy and prosocial behavior. In D. A. Schroeder & W. G. Graziano (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of prosocial behavior* (pp. 282–306). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399813.013.026
- Davis, M. H., Mitchell, K. V., Hall, J. A., Lothert, J., Snapp, T., & Meyer, M. (1999). Empathy, expectations, and situational preferences: Personality influences on the decision to participate in volunteer helping behaviors. *Journal of Personality*, 67(3), 469–503. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00062

- De Mulder, H. N. M., Hakemulder, F., van den Berghe, R., Klaassen, F., & van Berkum, J. J. A. (2017). Effects of exposure to literary narrative fiction: From book smart to street smart? *Scientific Study of Literature*, 7(1), 129–169. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.7.1.06dem
- de Vignemont, F., & Singer, T. (2006). The empathic brain: How, when and why? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *10*(10), 435–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2006.08.008
- de Waal, F. B. M. (2009). *The age of empathy: Nature's lessons for a kinder society*. Harmony Books.
- Decety, J. (2005). Perspective taking as the royal avenue to empathy. In B. F. Malle & S. D. Hodges (Eds.), *Other minds: How humans bridge the divide between self and others* (pp. 143–157). Guilford.
- Decety, J. (2011). Dissecting the neural mechanisms mediating empathy. *Emotion Review*, *3*(1), 92–108. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910374662
- Decety, J., & Cowell, J. M. (2014). Friends or foes: Is empathy necessary for moral behavior? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 9(5), 525–537. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614545130
- Decety, J., & Fotopoulou, A. (2015). Why empathy has a beneficial impact on others in medicine: Unifying theories. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 8, Article 457. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00457
- Decety, J., & Jackson, P. L. (2004). The functional architecture of human empathy. *Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews*, 3(2), 71–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534582304267187
- Decety, J., & Jackson, P. L. (2006). A social-neuroscience perspective on empathy. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *15*(2), 54–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-

7214.2006.00406.x

- Decety, J., & Michalska, K. J. (2010). Neurodevelopmental changes in the circuits underlying empathy and sympathy from childhood to adulthood. *Developmental Science*, *13*(6), 886– 899. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00940.x
- Decety, J., Michalska, K. J., & Kinzler, K. D. (2012). The contribution of emotion and cognition to moral sensitivity: A neurodevelopmental study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 22(1), 209–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr111
- Decety, J., & Sommerville, J. A. (2003). Shared representations between self and other: A social cognitive neuroscience view. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(12), 527–533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2003.10.004
- Deitcher, H. (2013). Once upon a time: How Jewish children's stories impact moral development. *Journal of Jewish Education*, 79(3), 235–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/15244113.2013.814988
- Desmond, R. (2012). The role of reading for children and adolescents in a digital age. In D. G. Singer & J. L. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of children and the media* (2nd ed., pp. 45–61). Sage.
- Diergarten, A. K., & Nieding, G. (2015). Children's and adults' ability to build online emotional inferences during comprehension of audiovisual and auditory texts. *Journal of Cognition* and Development, 16(2), 381–406. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2013.848871
- Djikic, M., Oatley, K., & Moldoveanu, M. C. (2013). Reading other minds: Effects of literature on empathy. *Scientific Study of Literature*, 3(1), 28–47. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.3.1.06dji

Dodell-Feder, D., & Tamir, D. I. (2018). Fiction reading has a small positive impact on social

cognition: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *147*(11), 1713–1727. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000395

- Dore, R. A., Amendum, S. J., Golinkoff, R. M., & Hirsh-Pasek, K. (2018). Theory of mind: A hidden factor in reading comprehension? *Educational Psychology Review*, 30(3), 1067– 1089. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-018-9443-9
- Duncan, L. G., McGeown, S. P., Griffiths, Y. M., Stothard, S. E., & Dobai, A. (2016).
 Adolescent reading skill and engagement with digital and traditional literacies as predictors of reading comprehension. *British Journal of Psychology*, *107*(2), 209–238.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12134
- Duval, C., Piolino, P., Bejanin, A., Eustache, F., & Desgranges, B. (2011). Age effects on different components of theory of mind. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 20(3), 627–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2010.10.025
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., Guthrie, I. K., Murphy, B. C., & Shepard, S. A. (2005). Age changes in prosocial responding and moral reasoning in adolescence and early adulthood. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *15*(3), 235–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2005.00095.x
- Eisenberg, N., & Fabes, R. A. (2006). Emotion regulation and children's socioemotional competence. In L. Balter & C. S. Tamis-LeMonda (Eds.), *Child psychology: A handbook of contemporary issues* (2nd ed., pp. 357–381). Psychology Press.
- Eyal, T., Steffel, M., & Epley, N. (2018). Perspective mistaking: Accurately understanding the mind of another requires getting perspective, not taking perspective. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 114(4), 547–571. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000115

Farrant, B. M., Devine, T. A. J., Maybery, M. T., & Fletcher, J. (2012). Empathy, perspective

taking and prosocial behaviour: The importance of parenting practices. *Infant and Child Development*, *21*(2), 175–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.740

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using
 G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*,
 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- FeldmanHall, O., Dalgleish, T., Evans, D., & Mobbs, D. (2015). Empathic concern drives costly altruism. *NeuroImage*, 105, 347–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.10.043
- Freeman, D., Aquino, K., & McFerran, B. (2009). Overcoming beneficiary race as an impediment to charitable donations: Social dominance orientation, the experience of moral elevation, and donation behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35(1), 72–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208325415
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006). The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron*, *50*(4), 531–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001

Fullana, M. A., Hidalgo-Mazzei, D., Vieta, E., & Radua, J. (2020). Coping behaviors associated with decreased anxiety and depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 275, 80–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.027

- Galinsky, A. D., & Moskowitz, G. B. (2000). Perspective-taking: Decreasing stereotype expression, stereotype accessibility, and in-group favoritism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(4), 708–724. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.4.708
- Gallese, V. (2001). The 'Shared Manifold' Hypothesis: From mirror neurons to empathy. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 8(5), 33–50.

García, J. R., & Cain, K. (2014). Decoding and reading comprehension: A meta-analysis to

identify which reader and assessment characteristics influence the strength of the relationship in English. *Review of Educational Research*, *84*(1), 74–111. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654313499616

- Geangu, E., Benga, O., Stahl, D., & Striano, T. (2011). Individual differences in infants' emotional resonance to a peer in distress: Self-other awareness and emotion regulation. *Social Development*, 20(3), 450–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2010.00596.x
- Gelman, A., & Rubin, D. B. (1992). Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. *Statistical Science*, *7*(4), 457–511. https://doi.org/10.1214/ss/1177011136
- Gerdes, K. E., Lietz, C. A., & Segal, E. A. (2011). Measuring empathy in the 21st century: Development of an empathy index rooted in social cognitive neuroscience and social justice. *Social Work Research*, 35(2), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/35.2.83
- Goldstein, T. R., & Winner, E. (2012). Enhancing empathy and theory of mind. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, *13*(1), 19–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2011.573514
- Graesser, A. C., Li, H., & Feng, S. (2015). Constructing inferences in naturalistic reading contexts. In E. J. O'Brien, A. E. Cook, & R. F. Lorch (Eds.), *Inferences during reading* (pp. 290–320). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107279186.014
- Green, M. C., & Brock, T. C. (2000). The role of transportation in the persuasiveness of public narratives. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(5), 701–721. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.5.701
- Green, M. C., & Brock, T. C. (2002). In the mind's eye: Transportation-imagery Model of narrative persuasion. In M. C. Green, J. J. Strange, & T. C. Brock (Eds.), *Narrative impact: Social and cognitive foundations* (pp. 315–341). Psychology Press.

Green, M. C., Brock, T. C., & Kaufman, G. F. (2004). Understanding media enjoyment: The role

of transportation into narrative worlds. *Communication Theory*, *14*(4), 311–327. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2004.tb00317.x

- Green, M. C., & Dill, K. E. (2012). Engaging with stories and characters: Learning, persuasion, and transportation into narrative worlds. In K. E. Dill (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of media psychology* (pp. 449–461). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195398809.013.0025
- Grühn, D., Rebucal, K., Diehl, M., Lumley, M., & Labouvie-Vief, G. (2008). Empathy across the adult lifespan: Longitudinal and experience-sampling findings. *Emotion*, 8(6), 753–765. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014123
- Gunthert, K. C., & Wenze, S. J. (2012). Daily diary methods. In M. R. Mehl & T. S. Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 144–159). Guilford.
- Gygax, P., & Gillioz, C. (2015). Emotion inferences during reading: Going beyond the tip of the iceberg. In E. J. O'Brien, A. E. Cook, & R. F. Lorch (Eds.), *Inferences during reading* (pp. 122–139). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781107279186
- Haidt, J. (2003). Elevation and the positive psychology of morality. In C. L. M. Keyes & J. Haidt (Eds.), *Flourishing: Positive psychology and the life well-lived*. (pp. 275–289). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10594-012
- Hakemulder, J. (2000). The moral laboratory: Experiments examining the effects of reading literature on social perception and moral self-concept. John Benjamins.
- Hall, J. A. (1978). Gender effects in decoding nonverbal cues. *Psychological Bulletin*, 85(4), 845–857. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.85.4.845
- Hancock, G. R., & French, B. F. (2013). Power analysis in structural equation modeling. In G. R.Hancock & R. O. Mueller (Eds.), *Structural equation modeling: A second course* (2nd ed.,

pp. 117–159). Information Age Publishing.

- Hart, C. M., Ritchie, T. D., Hepper, E. G., & Gebauer, J. E. (2015). The Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding Short Form (BIDR-16). SAGE Open, 5(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621113
- Hatfield, E., Rapson, R. L., & Le, Y. C. L. (2009). Emotional contagion and empathy. In J.Decety & W. Ickes (Eds.), *The social neuroscience of empathy* (pp. 19–30). The MIT Press.
- Hay, E. L., & Diehl, M. (2011). Emotion complexity and emotion regulation across adulthood. *European Journal of Ageing*, 8(3), 157–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-011-0191-7
- Henry, G. T. (2009). Practical sampling. In L. Bickman & D. J. Rog (Eds.), Sage Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods (2nd ed., pp. 77–105). Sage. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858.n3
- Henry, J. D., Phillips, L. H., Ruffman, T., & Bailey, P. E. (2013). A meta-analytic review of age differences in theory of mind. *Psychology and Aging*, 28(3), 826–839. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030677
- Hoffman, M. L. (2000). *Empathy and moral development: Implications for caring and justice*.Cambridge University Press.
- Hoffman, M. L. (2008). Empathy and prosocial behavior. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, &L. Feldman Barrett (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (3rd ed., pp. 440–455). Guilford.
- Hoyle, R. H., & Gottfredson, N. C. (2015). Sample size considerations in prevention research applications of multilevel modeling and structural equation modeling. *Prevention Science*, *16*(7), 987–996. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0489-8
- Hsieh, H. F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, *15*(9), 1277–1288.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687

- Israelashvili, J., Sauter, D., & Fischer, A. (2019). How well can we assess our ability to understand others' feelings? Beliefs about taking others' perspectives and actual understanding of others' emotions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 2475. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02475
- Ivey, G., & Johnston, P. H. (2013). Engagement with young adult literature: Outcomes and processes. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 48(3), 255–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.46
- Jacobs, A. M., & Willems, R. M. (2018). The fictive brain: Neurocognitive correlates of engagement in literature. *Review of General Psychology*, 22(2), 147–160. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000106
- Johnson, D. R. (2012). Transportation into a story increases empathy, prosocial behavior, and perceptual bias toward fearful expressions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *52*(2), 150–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.10.005
- Johnson, D. R. (2013). Transportation into literary fiction reduces prejudice against and increases empathy for Arab-Muslims. *Scientific Study of Literature*, *3*(1), 77–92. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.3.1.08joh
- Johnson, D. R., Cushman, G. K., Borden, L. A., & McCune, M. S. (2013). Potentiating empathic growth: Generating imagery while reading fiction increases empathy and prosocial behavior. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 7(3), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033261
- Johnson, D. R., Jasper, D. M., Griffin, S., & Huffman, B. L. (2013). Reading narrative fiction reduces Arab-Muslim prejudice and offers a safe haven from intergroup anxiety. *Social Cognition*, 31(5), 578–598. https://doi.org/10.1521/soco.2013.31.5.578

- Jordan, M. R., Amir, D., & Bloom, P. (2016). Are empathy and concern psychologically distinct? *Emotion*, *16*(8), 1107–1116. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000228
- Karniol, R. (2012). Storybook-induced arousal and preschoolers' empathic understanding of negative affect in self, others, and animals in stories. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 26(3), 346–358. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2012.684423
- Keen, S. (2007). *Empathy and the novel*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195175769.001.0001
- Keysar, B., Lin, S., & Barr, D. J. (2003). Limits on theory of mind use in adults. *Cognition*, 89(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-0277(03)00064-7
- Khanjani, Z., Mosanezhad Jeddi, E., Hekmati, I., Khalilzade, S., Etemadi Nia, M., Andalib, M., & Ashrafian, P. (2015). Comparison of cognitive empathy, emotional empathy, and social functioning in different age groups. *Australian Psychologist*, 50(1), 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12099
- Kidd, D., & Castano, E. (2013). Reading literary fiction improves theory of mind. *Science*, 342(6156), 377–380. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1239918
- Kidd, D., & Castano, E. (2019). Reading literary fiction and theory of mind: Three preregistered replications and extensions of Kidd and Castano (2013). *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *10*(4), 522–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550618775410
- Killgore, W. D. S., Taylor, E. C., Cloonan, S. A., & Dailey, N. S. (2020). Psychological resilience during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Psychiatry Research*, 291, Article 113216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113216
- Konijn, E. A. (2012). The role of emotion in media use and effects. In K. E. Dill (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of media psychology* (pp. 186–211). Oxford University Press.
https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195398809.013.0011

- Konrath, S., Fuhrel-Forbis, A., Lou, A., & Brown, S. (2012). Motives for volunteering are associated with mortality risk in older adults. *Health Psychology*, 31(1), 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025226
- Konrath, S., O'Brien, E. H., & Hsing, C. (2011). Changes in dispositional empathy in American college students over time: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 15(2), 180–198. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868310377395
- Koopman, E. M. (Emy). (2015). Empathic reactions after reading: The role of genre, personal factors and affective responses. *Poetics*, 50, 62–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2015.02.008
- Koopman, E. M. (Emy). (2016). Effects of "literariness" on emotions and on empathy and reflection after reading. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 10(1), 82–98. https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000041
- Kotovych, M., Dixon, P., Bortolussi, M., & Holden, M. (2011). Textual determinants of a component of literary identification. *Scientific Study of Literature*, 1(2), 260–291. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.1.2.05kot

Krull, J. L., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2001). Multilevel modeling of individual and group level mediated effects. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 36(2), 249–277. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327906MBR3602_06

Kurby, C. A., & Zacks, J. M. (2013). The activation of modality-specific representations during discourse processing. *Brain and Language*, 126(3), 338–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2013.07.003

Labouvie-Vief, G. (2015). Cognitive-emotional development from adolescence to adulthood. In

Integrating emotions and cognition throughout the lifespan (pp. 89–116). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09822-7_6

- Lam, C. B., Solmeyer, A. R., & McHale, S. M. (2012). Sibling relationships and empathy across the transition to adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41(12), 1657–1670. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9781-8
- Lam, T. C. M., Kolomitro, K., & Alamparambil, F. C. (2011). Empathy training: Methods, evaluation practices, and validity. *Journal of MultiDisciplinary Evaluation*, 7(16), 162–200. http://journals.sfu.ca/jmde/index.php/jmde_1/article/view/314
- Lamm, C., Batson, C. D., & Decety, J. (2007). The neural substrate of human empathy: Effects of perspective-taking and cognitive appraisal. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(1), 42–58. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2007.19.1.42
- Lamothe, M., McDuff, P., Pastore, Y. D., Duval, M., & Sultan, S. (2018). Developing professional caregivers' empathy and emotional competencies through mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR): Results of two proof-of-concept studies. *BMJ Open*, 8(1), Article e018421. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018421
- Lee, K., Talwar, V., McCarthy, A., Ross, I., Evans, A., & Arruda, C. (2014). Can classic moral stories promote honesty in children? *Psychological Science*, 25(8), 1630–1636. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614536401
- Litman, L., Robinson, J., & Abberbock, T. (2017). TurkPrime.com: A versatile crowdsourcing data acquisition platform for the behavioral sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49(2), 433–442. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0727-z
- Lockwood, P. L., Seara-Cardoso, A., & Viding, E. (2014). Emotion regulation moderates the association between empathy and prosocial behavior. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(5), Article e96555.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096555

- Maas, C. J. M., & Hox, J. J. (2005). Sufficient sample sizes for multilevel modeling. *Methodology*, 1(3), 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-2241.1.3.86
- Malone, P. S., & Lubansky, J. B. (2012). Preparing data for structural equation modeling: Doing your homework. In R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), *Handbook of structural equation modeling* (pp. 263–276). Gulford.
- Mar, R. A. (2011). The neural bases of social cognition and story comprehension. *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, 62(1), 103–134. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145406
- Mar, R. A. (2018). Stories and the promotion of social cognition. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 27(4), 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721417749654
- Mar, R. A., & Oatley, K. (2008). The function of fiction is the abstraction and simulation of social experience. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 3(3), 173–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00073.x
- Mar, R. A., Oatley, K., Hirsh, J., dela Paz, J., & Peterson, J. B. (2006). Bookworms versus nerds: Exposure to fiction versus non-fiction, divergent associations with social ability, and the simulation of fictional social worlds. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40(5), 694–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2005.08.002
- Mar, R. A., Oatley, K., & Peterson, J. B. (2009). Exploring the link between reading fiction and empathy: Ruling out individual differences and examining outcomes. *Communications*, 34(4), 407–428. https://doi.org/10.1515/COMM.2009.025
- Mata, J., Wenz, A., Rettig, T., Reifenscheid, M., Möhring, K., Krieger, U., Friedel, S., Fikel, M.,Cornesse, C., Blom, A. G., & Naumann, E. (2021). Health behaviors and mental healthduring the COVID-19 pandemic: A longitudinal population-based survey in Germany.

Social Science & Medicine, 287, Article 114333.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114333

- Mazzocco, P. J., Green, M. C., Sasota, J. A., & Jones, N. W. (2010). This story is not for everyone: Transportability and narrative persuasion. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 1(4), 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550610376600
- McAllister, G., & Irvine, J. J. (2002). The role of empathy in teaching culturally diverse students. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 53(5), 433–443. https://doi.org/10.1177/002248702237397
- McNeish, D. (2017). Multilevel mediation with small samples: A cautionary note on the multilevel structural equation modeling framework. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 24(4), 609–625. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1280797
- McNeish, D., & Hamaker, E. L. (2020). A primer on two-level dynamic structural equation models for intensive longitudinal data in Mplus. *Psychological Methods*, 25(5), 610–635. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000250
- McQuillan, J., & Conde, G. (1996). The conditions of flow in reading: Two studies of optimal experience. *Reading Psychology*, 17(2), 109–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/0270271960170201
- Melchers, M., Montag, C., Markett, S., & Reuter, M. (2015). Assessment of empathy via selfreport and behavioural paradigms: Data on convergent and discriminant validity. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 20(2), 157–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/13546805.2014.991781
- Mella, N., Studer, J., Gilet, A.-L., & Labouvie-Vief, G. (2012). Empathy for pain from adolescence through adulthood: An event-related brain potential study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3, Article 501. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00501

Miočević, M., MacKinnon, D. P., & Levy, R. (2017). Power in Bayesian mediation analysis for

small sample research. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 24(5), 666–683. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1312407

- Mitchell, C. H. (2019). Assessing narrative transportation in everyday life to inform the understanding of media effects [Unpublished manuscript]. Division of Behavioral and Organizational Sciences, Claremont Graduate University.
- Moore, M., & Gordon, P. C. (2015). Reading ability and print exposure: Item response theory analysis of the Author Recognition Test. *Behavior Research Methods*, *47*(4), 1095–1109. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-014-0534-3
- Morris, S. G. (2020). Empathy and the liberal-conservative political divide in the U.S. *Journal of Social and Political Psychology*, 8(1), 8–24. https://doi.org/10.5964/jspp.v8i1.1102
- Moul, C., Hawes, D. J., & Dadds, M. R. (2018). Mapping the developmental pathways of child conduct problems through the neurobiology of empathy. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 91, 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.03.016
- Mouw, J. M., Van Leijenhorst, L., Saab, N., Danel, M. S., & van den Broek, P. (2019).
 Contributions of emotion understanding to narrative comprehension in children and adults. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *16*(1), 66–81.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2017.1334548
- Moyer-Gusé, E. (2008). Toward a theory of entertainment persuasion: Explaining the persuasive effects of entertainment-education messages. *Communication Theory*, *18*(3), 407–425. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2008.00328.x
- Mumper, M. L., & Gerrig, R. J. (2017). Leisure reading and social cognition: A meta-analysis. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts*, 11(1), 109–120. https://doi.org/10.1037/aca0000089

- Murphy, B. A., & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2019). Are self-report cognitive empathy ratings valid proxies for cognitive empathy ability? Negligible meta-analytic relations with behavioral task performance. *Psychological Assessment*, *31*(8), 1062–1072. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000732
- Muthén, B., & Asparouhov, T. (2012). Bayesian structural equation modeling: A more flexible representation of substantive theory. *Psychological Methods*, 17(3), 313–335. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026802
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2017). *Mplus user' guide: Statistical analysis with latent variables* (8th ed.). Muthén & Muthén. https://www.statmodel.com/
- Nakamura, J., Tse, D. C. K., & Shankland, S. (2019). Flow: The experience of intrinsic motivation. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of human motivation* (pp. 167–185).
 Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190666453.013.10
- Narvaez, D. (1998). The influence of moral schemas on the reconstruction of moral narratives in eighth graders and college students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.90.1.13
- Narvaez, D. (2001). Moral text comprehension: Implications for education and research. *Journal of Moral Education*, *30*(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057240120033802
- Narvaez, D. (2002). Does reading moral stories build character? *Educational Psychology Review*, *14*(2), 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014674621501
- Narvaez, D. (2005). The Neo-Kohlbergian tradition and beyond: Schemas, expertise, and character. In G. Carlo & C. P. Edwards (Eds.), *Moral motivation through the life span* (Vol. 51, pp. 119–163). University of Nebraska Press.

Narvaez, D., Gleason, T., & Mitchell, C. (2010). Moral virtue and practical wisdom: Theme

comprehension in children, youth, and adults. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *171*(4), 363–388. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.2010.503253

- Narvaez, D., Gleason, T., Mitchell, C., & Bentley, J. (1999). Moral theme comprehension in children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(3), 477–487. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.91.3.477
- Neuman, S. B., Kaefer, T., Pinkham, A., & Strouse, G. (2014). Can babies learn to read? A randomized trial of baby media. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *106*(3), 815–830. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035937
- Nezlek, J. B. (2012). Multilevel modeling analyses of diary-style data. In M. R. Mehl & T. S.Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 357–383).Guilford.
- Nowicki, S., & Carton, J. (1993). The measurement of emotional intensity from facial expressions. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *133*(5), 749–750. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.1993.9713934
- O'Brien, E. H., Konrath, S. H., Gruhn, D., & Hagen, A. L. (2013). Empathic concern and perspective taking: Linear and quadratic effects of age across the adult life span. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 68(2), 168– 175. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs055
- Oakley, B. F. M., Brewer, R., Bird, G., & Catmur, C. (2016). Theory of mind is not theory of emotion: A cautionary note on the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 125(6), 818–823. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000182
- Oatley, K. (2016). Fiction: Simulation of social worlds. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 20(8), 618–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.06.002

- Oatley, K., & Djikic, M. (2018). Psychology of narrative art. *Review of General Psychology*, 22(2), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000113
- Ochsner, K. N., Ray, R. R., Hughes, B., McRae, K., Cooper, J. C., Weber, J., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Gross, J. J. (2009). Bottom-up and top-down processes in emotion generation. *Psychological Science*, 20(11), 1322–1331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02459.x
- Öhman, A., Flykt, A., & Esteves, F. (2001). Emotion drives attention: Detecting the snake in the grass. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *130*(3), 466–478. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.130.3.466
- Okonofua, J. A., Paunesku, D., & Walton, G. M. (2016). Brief intervention to encourage empathic discipline cuts suspension rates in half among adolescents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(19), 5221–5226. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523698113
- Oliver, M. B., Dillard, J. P., Bae, K., & Tamul, D. J. (2012). The effect of narrative news format on empathy for stigmatized groups. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 89(2), 205–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699012439020
- Oliver, M. B., & Raney, A. A. (2011). Entertainment as pleasurable and meaningful: Identifying hedonic and eudaimonic motivations for entertainment consumption. *Journal of Communication*, 61(5), 984–1004. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2011.01585.x
- Padilla-Walker, L. M., & Christensen, K. J. (2011). Empathy and self-regulation as mediators between parenting and adolescents' prosocial behavior toward strangers, friends, and family. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *21*(3), 545–551.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00695.x

- Panero, M. E., Weisberg, D. S., Black, J., Goldstein, T. R., Barnes, J. L., Brownell, H., & Winner, E. (2016). Does reading a single passage of literary fiction really improve theory of mind? An attempt at replication. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *111*(5), e46–e54. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000064
- Paris, Al. H., & Paris, S. G. (2003). Assessing narrative comprehension in young children. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 38(1), 36–76. https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.38.1.3
- Peer, E., Brandimarte, L., Samat, S., & Acquisti, A. (2017). Beyond the Turk: Alternative platforms for crowdsourcing behavioral research. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 70, 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2017.01.006
- Peng, P., Wang, T., Wang, C., & Lin, X. (2019). A meta-analysis on the relation between fluid intelligence and reading/mathematics: Effects of tasks, age, and social economics status. *Psychological Bulletin*, 145(2), 189–236. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000182
- Perfetti, C., & Stafura, J. (2014). Word knowledge in a theory of reading comprehension. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *18*(1), 22–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2013.827687
- Piotrowski, J. T., & Valkenburg, P. M. (2015). Finding orchids in a field of dandelions: Understanding children's differenital susceptibility to media effects. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 59(14), 1776–1789. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764215596552
- Preacher, K. J., Zhang, Z., & Zyphur, M. J. (2011). Alternative methods for assessing mediation in multilevel data: The advantages of multilevel SEM. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 18(2), 161–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2011.557329
- Preacher, K. J., Zyphur, M. J., & Zhang, Z. (2010). A general multilevel SEM framework for assessing multilevel mediation. *Psychological Methods*, 15(3), 209–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020141

- Rieffe, C., & Camodeca, M. (2016). Empathy in adolescence: Relations with emotion awareness and social roles. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *34*(3), 340–353. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjdp.12133
- Rosenbaum, J. E., & Johnson, B. K. (2016). Who's afraid of spoilers? Need for cognition, need for affect, and narrative selection and enjoyment. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 5(3), 273–289. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000076
- Royzman, E. B., Cassidy, K. W., & Baron, J. (2003). "I know, you know": Epistemic egocentrism in children and adults. *Review of General Psychology*, 7(1), 38–65. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.7.1.38
- Samur, D., Tops, M., & Koole, S. L. (2018). Does a single session of reading literary fiction prime enhanced mentalising performance? Four replication experiments of Kidd and Castano (2013). *Cognition and Emotion*, 32(1), 130–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2017.1279591
- Schapira, R., & Aram, D. (2020). Shared book reading at home and preschoolers' socioemotional competence. *Early Education and Development*, *31*(6), 819–837. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2019.1692624
- Schiefele, U., Schaffner, E., Möller, J., & Wigfield, A. (2012). Dimensions of reading motivation and their relation to reading behavior and competence. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 47(4), 427–463. https://doi.org/10.1002/RRQ.030
- Schlegel, K., Grandjean, D., & Scherer, K. R. (2014). Introducing the Geneva Emotion Recognition Test: An example of Rasch-based test development. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(2), 666–672. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035246

Schlegel, K., & Scherer, K. R. (2016). Introducing a short version of the Geneva Emotion

Recognition Test (GERT-S): Psychometric properties and construct validation. *Behavior Research Methods*, 48(4), 1383–1392. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-015-0646-4

- Schlegel, K., Vicaria, I. M., Isaacowitz, D. M., & Hall, J. A. (2017). Effectiveness of a short audiovisual emotion recognition training program in adults. *Motivation and Emotion*, 41(5), 646–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-017-9631-9
- Schnell, K., Bluschke, S., Konradt, B., & Walter, H. (2011). Functional relations of empathy and mentalizing: An fMRI study on the neural basis of cognitive empathy. *NeuroImage*, 54(2), 1743–1754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.08.024
- Schutte, N. S., & Malouff, J. M. (2007). Dimensions of reading motivation: Development of an Adult Reading Motivation Scale. *Reading Psychology*, 28(5), 469–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702710701568991
- Sedo, D. R. (2003). Readers in reading groups: An online survey of face-to-face and virutal book clubs. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 9(1), 66–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/135485650300900105
- Segal, E., Gerdes, K., Lietz, C., Wagaman, M. A., & Geiger, J. (2017). Assessing empathy. Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.7312/kehr18115
- Sénéchal, M., & LeFevre, J. A. (2002). Parental involvement in the development of children's reading skill: A five-year longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 73(2), 445–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00417
- Shamay-Tsoory, S. G., & Aharon-Peretz, J. (2007). Dissociable prefrontal networks for cognitive and affective theory of mind: A lesion study. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(13), 3054–3067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.05.021

Silke, C., Brady, B., Boylan, C., & Dolan, P. (2018). Factors influencing the development of

empathy and pro-social behaviour among adolescents: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94, 421–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.07.027

- Skoe, E. E. A. (2010). The relationship between empathy-related constructs and care-based moral development in young adulthood. *Journal of Moral Education*, 39(2), 191–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057241003754930
- Smit, J. (2016). The role of empathy in the knowledge building of eighth grade girls as they reflect on their experiences with literature. *Scientific Study of Literature*, 6(1), 59–86. https://doi.org/10.1075/ssol.6.1.05smi
- Smith, M. C. (2000). The real-world reading practices of adults. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *32*(1), 25–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/10862960009548063
- Somerville, L. H. (2013). The teenage brain: Sensitivity to social evaluation. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413476512
- Speer, N. K., Reynolds, J. R., Swallow, K. M., & Zacks, J. M. (2009). Reading stories activates neural representations of visual and motor experiences. *Psychological Science*, 20(8), 989– 999. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02397.x
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(2), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.005
- Sudman, S., Bradburn, N. M., & Schwarz, N. (1996). *Thinking about answers: The application of cognitive process to survey methodology*. Jossey-Bass.
- Sze, J. A., Gyurak, A., Goodkind, M. S., & Levenson, R. W. (2012). Greater emotional empathy and prosocial behavior in late life. *Emotion*, 12(5), 1129–1140. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025011

Tamir, D. I., Bricker, A. B., Dodell-Feder, D., & Mitchell, J. P. (2016). Reading fiction and

reading minds: The role of simulation in the default network. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsv114

- Teding van Berkhout, E., & Malouff, J. M. (2016). The efficacy of empathy training: A metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *63*(1), 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000093
- Thissen, B. A. K., Menninghaus, W., & Schlotz, W. (2018). Measuring optimal reading experiences: The Reading Flow Short Scale. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, Article 2542. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02542
- Tousignant, B., Eugène, F., & Jackson, P. L. (2017). A developmental perspective on the neural bases of human empathy. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 48, 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2015.11.006
- Valkenburg, P. M. (2015). The limited informativeness of meta-analyses of media effects. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(5), 680–682. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691615592237
- Valkenburg, P. M., Beyens, I., Pouwels, J. L., van Driel, I. I., & Keijsers, L. (2021). Social media use and adolescents' self-esteem: Heading for a person-specific media effects paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 71(1), 56–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqaa039
- Valkenburg, P. M., & Peter, J. (2013). The Differential Susceptibility to Media Effects Model. *Journal of Communication*, 63(2), 221–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12024
- Valkenburg, P. M., Peter, J., & Walther, J. B. (2016). Media effects: Theory and research. Annual Review of Psychology, 67(1), 315–338. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033608

Valkenburg, P. M., & Piotrowski, J. T. (2017). Adolescents. In Plugged in: How media attract

and affect youth (pp. 78–95). Yale University Press.

- van de Schoot, R., Kaplan, D., Denissen, J., Asendorpf, J. B., Neyer, F. J., & van Aken, M. A. G. (2014). A gentle introduction to Bayesian analysis: Applications to developmental research. *Child Development*, 85(3), 842–860. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12169
- Van Der Bolt, L., & Tellegen, S. (1995). The connection between the reading of books and the development of sympathy and empathy. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, 14(3), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.2190/p4r8-kpkg-0b0c-r4lt
- Van der Graaff, J., Branje, S., De Wied, M., Hawk, S., Van Lier, P., & Meeus, W. (2014). Perspective taking and empathic concern in adolescence: Gender differences in developmental changes. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(3), 881–888. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034325
- Van der Graaff, J., Carlo, G., Crocetti, E., Koot, H. M., & Branje, S. (2018). Prosocial behavior in adolescence: Gender differences in development and links with empathy. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(5), 1086–1099. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0786-1
- van Kuijk, I., Verkoeijen, P., Dijkstra, K., & Zwaan, R. A. (2018). The effect of reading a short passage of literary fiction on theory of mind: A replication of Kidd and Castano (2013). *Collabra: Psychology*, 4(1), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.1525/collabra.117
- van Laer, T., de Ruyter, K., Visconti, L. M., & Wetzels, M. (2014). The Extended Transportation-imagery Model: A meta-analysis of the antecedents and consequences of consumers' narrative transportation. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 40(5), 797–817. https://doi.org/10.1086/673383
- van Noorden, T. H. J., Haselager, G. J. T., Cillessen, A. H. N., & Bukowski, W. M. (2015). Empathy and involvement in bullying in children and adolescents: A systematic review.

Journal of Youth and Adolescence, *44*(3), 637–657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-014-0135-6

Vaughn, L. A., Childs, K. E., Maschinski, C., Paul Niño, N., & Ellsworth, R. (2010). Regulatory fit, processing fluency, and narrative persuasion. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 4(12), 1181–1192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2010.00325.x

Vega, M., Léon, I., & Díaz, J. M. (1996). The representation of changing emotions in reading comprehension. *Cognition & Emotion*, 10(3), 303–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999396380268

- Vezzali, L., Stathi, S., Giovannini, D., Capozza, D., & Trifiletti, E. (2015). The greatest magic of Harry Potter: Reducing prejudice. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 45(2), 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12279
- Vitz, P. C. (1990). The use of stories in moral development: New psychological reasons for an old education method. *American Psychologist*, 45(6), 709–720. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.45.6.709
- Walter, H. (2012). Social cognitive neuroscience of empathy: Concepts, circuits, and genes. *Emotion Review*, *4*(1), 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073911421379
- Wassenburg, S. I., Beker, K., van den Broek, P., & van der Schoot, M. (2015). Children's comprehension monitoring of multiple situational dimensions of a narrative. *Reading and Writing*, 28(8), 1203–1232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-015-9568-x
- West, R. F., Stanovich, K. E., & Mitchell, H. R. (1993). Reading in the real world and its correlates. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 28(1), 35–50. https://doi.org/10.2307/747815
- Willems, R. M., & Jacobs, A. M. (2016). Caring about Dostoyevsky: The untapped potential of studying literature. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 20(4), 243–245.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.12.009

- Williams, A., O'Driscoll, K., & Moore, C. (2014). The influence of empathic concern on prosocial behavior in children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, Article 425. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00425
- Wispé, L. (1986). The distinction between sympathy and empathy: To call forth a concept, a word is needed. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(2), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.2.314
- Wolf, E. J., Harrington, K. M., Clark, S. L., & Miller, M. W. (2013). Sample size requirements for structural equation models. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(6), 913– 934. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164413495237
- Wolk, S. (2009). Reading for a better world: Teaching for social responsibility with young adult literature. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 52(8), 664–673. https://doi.org/10.1598/JAAL.52.8.2
- Yuan, Y., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2009). Bayesian mediation analysis. *Psychological Methods*, 14(4), 301–322. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016972
- Zaki, J. (2014). Empathy: A motivated account. *Psychological Bulletin*, *140*(6), 1608–1647. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037679
- Zaki, J. (2018). Empathy is a moral force. In K. Gray & J. Graham (Eds.), *Atlas of moral psychology* (pp. 49–58). Guilford.
- Zaki, J. (2020). Integrating empathy and interpersonal emotion regulation. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 71(1), 517–540. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050830
- Zaki, J., & Ochsner, K. (2016). Empathy. In L. Feldman Barrett, M. Lewis, & J. M. Haviland-Jones (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (4th ed., pp. 871–884). Guilford.

- Zaki, J., & Ochsner, K. N. (2012). The neuroscience of empathy: Progress, pitfalls and promise. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(5), 675–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3085
- Zaki, J., Weber, J., Bolger, N., & Ochsner, K. (2009). The neural bases of empathic accuracy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(27), 11382–11387. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0902666106
- Zimmermann, P., & Iwanski, A. (2014). Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood and middle adulthood. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 38(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025413515405

Appendices

Appendix A

List of Items Used in Different Surveys (Pretest, Posttest, Diary Survey)

Empathy / Empathy Assessment Index (Segal et al., 2017)

- 1. When I see someone receive a gift that makes them happy, I feel happy myself (AR)
- 2. Emotional stability describes me well (ER)
- 3. I am good at understanding other people's emotions (AM)
- 4. I can consider my point of view and another person's point of view at the same time (PT)
- 5. When I get angry, I need a lot of time to get over it (ER, R)
- 6. I can imagine what the character is feeling in a good movie (PT)
- 7. When I see someone being publicly embarrassed, I cringe a little (AR)
- 8. When I see another person experiencing a strong emotion, I can accurately assess what that person is feeling (SOA)
- 9. Friends view me as a moody person (ER, R)
- 10. When I see someone accidentally hit their thumb with a hammer, I feel a flash of pain myself (AR)
- 11. When I see a person experiencing a strong emotion, I can describe what the person is feeling to someone else (AM)
- 12. I can imagine what it's like to be in someone else's shoes (PT)
- 13. I can tell the difference between my friend's feelings and my own (SOA)
- 14. I consider other people's points of view in discussions (PT)
- 15. When I am with someone who gets sad news, I feel sad for a moment too (AR)
- 16. When I am upset or unhappy, I get over it quickly (ER)
- 17. I can explain to others how I am feeling (SOA)
- 18. I can agree to disagree with other people (PT)
- 19. I am aware of what other people think of me (SOA)
- 20. Hearing laughter makes me smile (AR)
- 21. I am aware of other people's emotions (AM)
- *Note.* AR = affective responding, ER = emotion regulation, AM = affective mentalizing, PT = perspective taking, SOA = self-other awareness, R = reverse-coded

Emotional Recognition / Geneva Emotion Recognition Test-Short (GERT-S; Schlegel & Scherer, 2016)

- This test is comprised of a series of short video clips depicting actors conveying one of 14 specific emotions—(1) joy, (2) amusement, (3) pride—high arousal/positive valence;
 (4) pleasure, (5) relief, (6) interest—low arousal/positive valence; (7) anger, (8) fear, (9) despair—high arousal/negative valence; (10) irritation, (11) anxiety, (12) sadness—low arousal/negative valence; (13) disgust, and (14) surprise
- The test takes about 10 min to complete (Schlegel & Scherer, 2016)

Empathic Concern subscale from Interpersonal Reactivity Index (Davis, 1983)

- 1. When I see someone being taken advantage of, I feel kind of protective toward them.
- 2. When I see someone being treated unfairly, I sometimes don't feel very much pity for

them. (R)

- 3. I often have tender, concerned feelings for people less fortunate than me.
- 4. I would describe myself as a pretty soft-hearted person.
- 5. Sometimes I don't feel sorry for other people when they are having problems. (R)
- 6. Other people's misfortunes do not usually disturb me a great deal. (R)
- 7. I am often quite touched by things that I see happen.

Prosocial Behavior

• Real-world prosocial behavior will be measured by participants' willingness to donate their compensation to a charity

Reading Behavior

• These questions are intended to give me a sense of what type of literature participants are reading, which is necessary in lieu of assigning them something to read. I recognize that some readers may finish more than one novel during the study period. Having this information will be useful for assessing potential literariness or genre effects (e.g., Kidd & Castano, 2013), and to see if there are any interesting effects related to differences in reading motivations between student and adult participants

Transportation Scale-Short Form (Appel et al., 2015)

- 1. I could picture myself in the scene of the events described in the narrative
- 2. I was mentally involved in the narrative while reading it
- 3. I wanted to learn how the narrative ended
- 4. The narrative affected me emotionally
- 5. While reading the narrative, I had a vivid mental image of the characters

Reading Flow Short Scale (Thissen et al., 2018)

- 1. I felt optimally challenged while reading (AB)
- 2. I read this text smoothly and fluently (SP)
- 3. I did not notice time passing during reading (AB)
- 4. I was completely immersed in what I was reading (AB)
- 5. Thoughts, emotions, and images emerged spontaneously and automatically, inspired by what I was reading (AB)
- 6. I knew on every page that I was able to grasp the story (SP)
- 7. I felt that I understood everything during reading (AB)
- 8. During reading, I became so oblivious that I became completely unaware of myself (SP)
- *Note*. AB = absorption, SP = smooth processing

Reading Habits (diary survey questions)

• These questions focused on participants' reading habits in between diary surveys with questions like, (a) did you spend time reading since your last survey (yes/no); (b) how long did you spend reading, with 30-min blocks as response options; (c) why were you reading; and (d) an open-ended response to report about particularly meaningful reading experiences or changes in their reading habits (e.g., starting a new book or finishing an old one)

Mood Items (leisure group diary questions)

- Please think about how you feel at the moment and indicate how closely each statement describes you.
- I am feeling happy, stressed, tense, tired, relaxed, energetic

Leisure Activity Items (leisure group diary questions)

- Have you spent any time doing any of these leisure activities since completing the previous survey? Responses are yes/no.
- Using social media; exercising; reading fiction books; watching movies/television; socializing (in-person, Zoom); general internet browsing (e.g., YouTube, Reddit); listening to music; playing board games/video games; gardening; doing creative activities (as defined by you); Other (please specify)
- If they said yes to any of these activities, they indicated how much time they spent (e.g., "Between 1-30 minutes," "More than 30 minutes but less than 1 hour"), and they could describe what they were doing in a free response box

Lifelong Reading / Author Recognition Test (Moore & Gordon, 2015)

- This test was presented in a check-all-that-apply format, and participants selected names they believed to be real authors (i.e., 50 fiction author names) from a list of 100 names (i.e., 50 foil author names)
- The complete list of author names can be found in Acheson et al. (2008), though I am using an adapted, shorter version from Moore and Gordon (2015)

Social Desirability / Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding (Hart et al., 2015)

- 1. I have not always been honest with myself (SDE, R)
- 2. I always know why I like things (SDE)
- 3. It's hard for me to shut off a disturbing thought (SDE, R)
- 4. I never regret my decisions
- 5. I sometimes lost out on things because I can't make up my mind soon enough (SDE, R)
- 6. I am a completely rational person (SDE)
- 7. I am very confident about my judgments (SDE)
- 8. I sometimes tell lies if I have to (IM, R)
- 9. I never cover up my mistakes (IM)
- 10. There have been occasions when I have taken advantage of someone (IM, R)
- 11. I sometimes try to get even rather than forgive and forget (IM, R)
- 12. I have said something bad about a friend behind their back (IM, R)
- 13. When I hear people talking privately, I avoid listening (IM)
- 14. I don't gossip about other people's business (IM)
- *Note*. SDE = self-deceptive enhancement, IM = impression management, R = reverse-coded.

COVID-impact on behavior

• Do you feel that COVID-related measures in your life influenced your reading habits/leisure activities over the past month?

Study impact on behavior

• Do you feel participating in this study influenced your reading habits/leisure activity choices over the past month?

Perspectives on empathy

- Do you feel the time you spent reading recently, particularly during the study, impacted the ways you think about or interact with other people? (Reading group only)
- Do you feel that your outlook toward other people and others' perspectives has changed over the past month? (Leisure group only)

Appendix B

Study Procedure Flow Chart

On- boarding	 Complete the interest survey and provide email Watch video describing participation Reach out with any questions
+	
Pretest	 Completed online following on-boarding Measures: EAI, GERT-S, reading behavior, demographics, and control measures Indicate time of day to receive diary survey
\downarrow	
Diary survey	 Participants receive first diary survey 3 days after pretest Continue receiving diary surveys every 3 days following, on fixed interval 9 surveys total
Ļ	
Posttest	 Completed as soon as possible after last diary survey Measures: EAI, GERT-S, open-ended questions (e.g., do you feel you gained appreciation for new perspectives through your reading?) Donate (part of) compensation to charity

Appendix C

Participant Procedure Overview

Note. Participants viewed this procedure overview during the screener survey.

